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1. INTRODUCTION

In English history, the pub or inn has had great social
importance, as a meeting place for people, a place of enter-
tainment and a place where travellers could get food and
lodging for the night. In Australia it is of at least equal
significance, reflecting many colourful features of Austral-
ian life, and the architecture of which provides an interest-
ing and valuable insight into the development of Australia.
However the Australian pub of today, with the trend to very
large establishments catering mainly for males, is very
different to the typical English pub of today, which is
smaller and caters more as a social meeting place for both
sexes. It is not intended to trace the complete development
of the Australian pub from its earliest days to the present,
but to examine certain early inns and pubs and to look for
similarities or otherwise in design between these and their
English counterparts, having sprung from the same source.

A second intention, equally important, is to look at the
inns and pubs in one area, the Hawkesbury River area, which
was one of the very first areas settled in this country, and
trace the development of inns in this area in the first half
of the 19th century. The examples chosen for detailed study
all come from this area, and were established between 1815
and 1851. To a degree, the study of inns is a social as
well as architectural exercise.

It should be pointed out that the term 'inn' is used in
its general sense. The term 'pub' could be equally substit-
uted. In the first half of this century, the primary function
of licensed houses in the country areas was to provide meals
and accommodation for travellers. 1In addition, the majority
of the establishments studies in depth were originally ad-
vertised as inns. This is therefore not a study solely on
coach inns, but on inns and pubs in a significant early area
of settlement of Australia.

The English Tradition is the first thing to be examined,
to see the development of inns and pubs in the mother country.
Laws and regulations in Australia have had a great effect on
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the development of inns. This is briefly examined in The
Australian Scene. A social history of all known inns in

the area is then attempted. The studies of particular inns
range from the nationally significant, magnificent 'Macquarie
Arms' at Windsor down to the unpretentious style of the 'Gold
Finders Home Inn' at Kurrajong, which the world seems to have

passed by.
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2% The English Tradition

2.1 Introduction
The evolution of inns and pubs in England followed three

main streams, the alehouse, the inn and the tavern. See
Figure 1.(l) 1Initially, many wayside houses opened their
kitchens for the sale of drinks to passers by. It had no
architectural pretences, and was merely a 'home from home'.
Following from this start were the simple alehouse, the inn,
which provided beds as well as food and drink, and the tavern
which provided for the more sophisticated demands of the town
customer for wine as well as beer. The alehouse evolved into
the simple beerhouse of the country village or town by-street,
and from it derived the architectural character of both the
country pub and the Public Bar in the big town pub. The inn
became 'grander than home' in style, becoming the coaching
inn, then the railway hotel, and lately as the road house or
motel of the motor car era. The modern cocktail bar evolved
from the hotel. The tavern developed into the coffee house
and thence into the c¢lub. The Wine Bar and Cocktail Bar were
other developments. The tavern also developed through the
gin shop and Gin Palace intc the typical corner pub found
today on English street corners. As the Gin Palace, it
created a specialist kind of interior decoration, with a
'theatrical' appeal, which had little in common with domest-
ic interior decoration. The theatrical style is still
evident in rococo style Saloon Bars. Alsc often present in
the same pub is the simply styled Public Bar, whose architect-
ural descent comes separately almost direct from the alehouse
kitchen. ‘

2.2 The 'Home from Home' Pub

The 'Home from Home' pub was the country pub with no
pretensions but plenty of homely frills. It represents the
eighteenth-century tradition by-passed almost completely by
the urban tradition of the nineteenth, and is still to be
found in many places today. It has no particular plan, but

has just grown from the days when the kitchen was the main
room. This pub developed from the kitchen by way of the
tap-room to the public bar. Records show the kitchen as



KITCHEN

\

ALEHOUSE INN TAVERN

COFFEE
HOUSE

COACHING INN

BEERHOUSE GIN SHOP cLuB

GIN PALACE

WINE BAR

HOTEL

COUNTRY PUB

URBAN PUBLIC
BAR

ROADHOUSE COCKTAIL BAR

( REF.1)

FIGURE |



the operative room prior to the nineteenth century, having

a rough interior, solid settles and large fireplace with all
the necessary cooking paraphernalia of the hearth. The only
other decorative features of the room are shelves and rocks
above the fireplace loaded with polished pewter and copper-
ware or saucepan lids.

In the towns they were frequently more elaborate,
corresponding to their higher standards of decoration,
using panelled walls, large ornately carved fireplaces and
plaster ceilings in high relief, and it is apparent that
the kitchen as a cooking room was, by the end of the eight-
eenth century, withdrawing from the room occupied by the
customers, though probably the lower order of customer re-
tired with it.

'This feature of the kitchen continued well into the last
century, at least in rural areas, for new ideas spread slowly
and it was probably not till the urban pub established the
idea of separate bars linked by a bar-counter that the kit-
chen became a tap-room and later a public bar, or that bar-
counters appeared in country pubs at all.

The bar-counter, which is discussed in detail later on,
did not become a popular feature till the nineteenth century.
Its function was to help the staff to maintain control and
to stop the customers from helping themselves. When it was
established it was usually of oak, ... though ash was also
used, and probably elm and chestnut, the indigenous woods
preferred for a solid job of that sort by generations of
country carpenters. 1In shipbuilding towns and ports, where
foreign woods were more readily obtainable, these were used
too. ... The vertical front of the counter was generally
from boards of the same wood as the top, or of softer woods
such as pitch pine, which served the purpose just as well.

In rural areas the wood surfaces were probably untreated
oak, the tops of the bar-counter and tables assuming a pleas-
ing natural polish from the daily spillings of ale. ...



Furniture in both country and town pubs was very limit-
ed, often consisting of a table, a bench and two or three
chairs.

Floors in country pubs were of stone flags, bricks and
sometimes boards, while walls and ceilings were of plain or
whitewashed plaster.

All pubs, however, being normal domestic dwellings, had
the usual private gquarters for the proprietor and in partic-
ular the parlour. This was the private room to which guests
were taken if they did not wish to mix socially with the
lower orders in the kitchen. It was equipped with the pub-
lican's best furniture and probably boasted a table, any
upholstery he had managed to acquire - there was little
available to the poorer classes of the eighteenth century -
a dresser and a collection of his most prized personal odds
and ends. These would reflect his interest in some sport or
pursuit, perhaps earlier days spent in foreign parts and
probably a small collection of family heirlooms.

These parlours still exist today, particularly in the
north of England where, often, the bar-counter does not ex-
tend outside the public bar. Where conditions changed, it
became the private bar, subsequently fading away when the
saloon bar pushed it into the background.

Colour in the 'Home from Home' pub has always stemmed
from home-grown woods, particularly oak in its natural state.
Paintwork, and particularly graining, has always followed
this tradition of natural cak, though the popularity of
mahogany during the nineteenth century led to the use of
this wood and its grained imitation too, and the same applied
to teak. Walls have tended to keep to wood or plaster colours
even when papered, decorated papers being mére common in the
parlour when that room has retained its identity. Decoration
really owes more to the incidental additions of the publican
himself, some pubs being veritable museums of traditional ale
pots in pewter and glazed slipware, and ranges of spirit
measures in pewter and copper which have outlived their use-
fulness and often their accuracy. Floral decoration rarely
goes beyond ferns and the evergreen plants that seem to live
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in pots for ever. In latter days, however, the advertising
efforts of the brewers, distillers and the soft drink, to-
bacco and potato crisp manufacturers have provided unlimited
supplies of enamelled and cardboard wall placards, china jugs,
dogs and brisk-stepping gentlemen in fancy dress, and any pub
nowadays would look barren indeed without its guota of advert-
ising bric-a-brac.

The resulting colours, furniture and lighting all merge
unobtrusively, as if by instinct, to form a quiet background

to the people for whom the pub exists.

2.3 The Origins of the Bar-Counter

When the bar-counter originated is not clear. ... The
bar-counter almost certainly developed first in the coffee
house, that is, it had an urban origin. It is also very
probable that a form of bar developed independently in the
kitchen of the country alehouse and for rather different
reasons, but ultimately the two knit together to become a
single line of development sometime in the mid-nineteenth
century.

The early alehouse kitchen had no pub characteristics
and was no more than a humble domestic farmhouse kitchen.
The brewhouse was across the yard at the back and whenever
a fresh supply of ale was required, someone had to go out
with a pitcher and draw it off. This naturally became
rather inconvenient when there was, perhaps, a friendly
invasion by the military and business was brisk, and part-
icularly so when the yard was dark, dirty and muddy. The
obvious thing to do was to provide a room or cubby-hole
inside the house where a bulk supply could be stored,
sufficient at least for the requirements of one evening.

So in a corner of the kitchen, a little area was partitioned
off and turned into a store. ... This was undoubtedly the
origin of the alehouse tap-room. Such a room may have ex-
isted outside the actual public room, but it is its situat-
ion within it that is of particular interest here, for it
only needs the upper part of the partitioning to be removed
and a table to be stood in front, or better still a shelf



put round it, to make it ideal as a servery as well as a
store. As the kitchen lost its identity as a place for
cooking, the name 'tap-room' passed to the public room and

the private part was called the 'bar'. Later the same fate
overtook the bar. In course of time the names for the differ-
ent rooms that were taken over by the public changed several
times under the influence of urban usage. In due course the
bar-counter was moved into the centre of the room on the
urban model, and quite logically, for there it was more
conveniently placed to serve all the rooms.

The evidence suggests, however, that in the country,
the bar as we know it did not appear generally till Vict-
orian times. There is certainly not much information to
go on, but Loudon's Cyclopaedia of Cottage, Farm and Villa
Architecture, published in 1833, (2) gives a number of
architects' plans for public houses of various sizes and
not one makes provision in a country pub for a bar-counter
as we know it. Where a bar is shown, it is the publican's
private room. The room for the general public, apart from
the parlour, is the tap-room. Since no supplies are stored
in that room, it shows that already the name had changed its
meaning.' (1)

The urban form of the bar-counter evolved from the
coffee house, where a niche in the wall with shelves be-
hind for crockery and a small counter in front for serving
was the original counter.

This niche was gradually expanded for greater conven-
ience and better storage and soon became a substantial
counter to lean on, which developed with the nineteenth
century habit of perpendicular drinking around which the
whole of bar design has since evolved.

By the early nineteenth century, the urban bar-counter
had grown yet bigger to deal with the greater traffic of the
towns, and was beginning to acquire its specialized equip-
ment. The counter became much bigger, while the 'niche'
vanished completely and in its place was the formal fore-



runner of the decorated Victorian bar-back with casks,
bottles and glasses thoughtfully arranged to be decorative
as well as handy.

The use in this way of the essential equipment of the
pub as decoration became traditional and it is apparent not
only in the gin shop and early Gin Palace but today in the
Victorian pub and even more strongly in the wine bar. It
is, moreover, a tradition that comes directly from the
kitchen where the polished pewter and copperware filled
the racks about the fireplace in orderly splendour.

Figure 2 illustrates the development of the pub and
bar from its kitchen origins to its more common form today.

2.4 The Gin Palace
Developments moved rapidly following the industrial

revolution. In the nineteenth century, particularly from
1830 onwards, the theatrical style of pub design evolved

in the form of the Gin Palace. Great expense was incurred
by publicans in fitting out their bars., Dickens gave the
following descripticn of one in 'Sketches of Boz', publish-
ed in 1836.

'... the gay building with the fantastically ornamental
parapet, the illuminated clock, the plate glass windows
surrounded by stucco rosettes, and its profusion of gas
lights in richly gilt burners, is perfectly dazzling when
contrasted with the darkness and dirt we have just left.
The interior is even gayer than the exterior. A bar of
french-polished mahogany elegantly carved, extends the
whole width of the place; and there are two side aisles
of great casks, painted green and gold, enclosed within
a light brass rail, and bearing such descriptions as "0Old
Tom 549", "Young Tom 360", "Samson 1421" - the figures, we
presume, agreeing with gallons, you understand. Beyond the
bar is a lofty and spacious saloon, full of the same entic-
ing vessels, with a gallery running round it, egually well
furnished.'
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Another source, H. Vizetelly in his Glances back through
Seventy Years, published in 1893, says: 'It was near Field
Lane that the first London Gin Palace was built; the polish-
ed mahogany counters, the garish bar fittings, the smartly
painted vats, inscribed "0ld Tom" and "Cream of the Valley",
the rows of showy bottles of noyau and other cordials, and
above all the immense blaze of gas light within and without
these buildings as soon as dusk set in, were all so many
novelties and came as a vision of splendour to the besotted
denizens of the neighbouring slums. I remember that one of
these so-called palaces had a second and lower counter for
the accommodation of the children and juvenile thieves whom
it counted among its patrons.'

2.5 The Victorian Pub

The Victorian Pub marked a definite break from the
style of the Gin Palace. It is suggested that it came
into being following the 1851 Exhibition or perhaps it

was just a sign of increasing social stability, wealth
and respectability.

The most obvious change was the development of the
horseshoe or 'O' shaped bar-counter, with its radiating
partitions. The reasons for it were twofold. The first,
common to the long bar of the Gin Palace, was the con-
centration of customers and the need to serve them as
guickly as possible and as much as possible in the short-
est space of time. This resulted in and encouraged the
urban habit of perpendicular drinking. The second was
the increasing respectability of Victorian society from
top to bottom and, with it, a growing middle class which
subdivided itself into multiple social strata.

The Victorian pub often combined the dual qualities
of decoration and utility. The mirrors, for instance,
elaborately embossed and cut and painted with all manner
of designs, had a practical aspect, for the publican could,
with their help, keep an eye on the many dark corners and
alcoves or could see the faces of customers whose backs
were turned to him. Mirrors also provided company for



T ¥ 1 [

the solitary customer and expanded the room when it might
have felt crowded.

In Victorian times, the 'Grander than Home' pub appear-
ing in country towns became a wealthy, lavish Victorian home,
catering for a respectable body of customers who preferred
its 'upper class' marble and potted palms to the country
pub atmosphere. It had rooms instead of partitioned sect-
ions, flowered wallpapers, pictures, stained glass and
leaded lights instead of decorated mirrors, and marble often
replaced much of the mahogany. Its decoration was intended
to reflect its social standing.

Returning to the usual style ..., 'the Victorian pub
was a landmark in the evolution of pub design, for, in
contrast with the earlier practice of linking, as required,
a series of small rooms to a central service area by knock-
ing down partition walls and opening up doorways, the cust-
omers' space and the service area were, for the first time,
regarded as one unit, which then could be subdivided to suit
the local needs.

This great room was proportioned in accordance with
current thought and techniques. The result was far loftier
than pubs of an earlier date, achieving an effect of opulence
and grandeur, which was increased by the vistas and impress-
ion of scale. Even from the smallest subdivision it was
possible to get alluring glimpses of the rest of the room.
This was achieved by stopping the partitions a few feet
short of the ceiling, and not allowing the bar screens to
obstruct entirely an oblique view along the length of the
bar-counter. A ceiling, decorated in high relief and
common to the whole room, provided a unifying feature
which was all the more effective by being patterned rather
than plain. The obscured glass partitions, although pro-
viding privacy and preventing a complete view, still trans-
mitted light and atmosphere from adjoining bars and pro-
duced an effect of intrigue and mystery.

The bigger bars were often of sufficient size to be
independent of the other parts of the room for this effect
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of scale, but the smaller bars would have indeed been box
like had they not had the dramatic focal point of the bar-
counter and the ornamental bar-back or the island bar wagon.
These formed a fourth wall which, though a barrier in the
physical sense, was no barrier to the imagination.

For the bar-counter and the monumental fitments behind
the bar were reserved the full activities of the Victorian
craftsmen of wood carving. Always in mahogany, the bar fit-
ment rose from shelf to shelf, each supported by numerous
columns and pilasters, to a classical crescendo at its summit,
where cornices, minarets and architraves competed for pride of
place, backed by panels of plain, embossed or brilliant cut
mirror reflecting the glasses, bottles, containers, ferns
and polished copper measures and funnels which crowded the
shelves, to combine the functions of advertisement, display,
decoration and merchandise rack.

The shape of these counters varied with the site and
gsize of the room. If the site had, for example, a longer
frontage than depth, the bar fitment would line the long
back wall and the bar would be in shape a half lozenge some-
what flattened. In this case it approximated nearest to the
earlier development of a bar - where it was a counter across
a room., More usually in plan it would vary in shape between
a horseshoe and a magnet, with the main fitment across the
open end tacking on to the service and publican's quarters.

The longer this 'U' shape extended, the farther the
server found himself from the stock. This resulted in the
island fitmet or wagon, which was a double-sided stock rack
extending down the centre of the loop formed by the bar-
counter thus reducing the distance that the staff had to
walk to reach the stock.

These were not usually as elaborate as the main fitment
but they were likewise loaded with a multiplicity of bottles,
wine and spirit containers and glasses, with rows of spirit
kegs, porcelain barrels and the like, each with its polished
pipeline to service level.
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In some cases, more usually in small pubs, this bar
shape became an unbroken elongated 'O' shape, the publican
having no space for private quarters abutting on to the
service area. In this event the wall fitment disappeared
and the 'island' took its place.

The bar-counter, too, was often a most elaborate affair.
Its only unrelieved surface was the top, made from huge slabs
of solid mahogany, and polished repeatedly to retain its
glossy richness, broken here and there by a group of beer-
pulls, fussy and fantastic glass spirit containers, polish-
ed mullers and shining brass lamp standards.

The real features of the bar-counter, at least in the
saloon and private bars, were the 'snob screens' set in their
framework of mahogany. These screens were embossed or brill-
iant-cut glass panels often gilded or painted with designs of
birds and flowers, sometimes plain bevelled. They were small
half-opened windows, pivoted on their vertical axes, and
screened the frequenters of the saloon bar from the commoners
drinking in the public bar. These were one of the charact-
eristics of the Victorian bar and one of the most decorative.
When they first came into use is not clear, though they
probably date from about 1860.

The entrance to the Saloon Bar was usually via a side
street, rather than from the main face of the building, pro-
viding a certain anonymity for its clients, usually artisans,
white collar workers and others with social positions to main-
tain.

The saloon bar was the decorative and financial high-
light of the Victorian pub. ...

As the entrance door with its protective frosted panel
embossed with the legend 'Saloon Bar' shut behind one, the
first impression was of a wall of mirror glass, semi-obscured
by an intricate embossed and cut pattern, divided into panels,
each framed in mahogany, reflecting in an infinitely broken
and confused pattern the lights and features of the room.
Sometimes these larger panels covered the wall to a height
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of twelve feet or so and then, usually, the lower part of
them only would be decorated, leaving the upper part un-
obscured. Sometimes their smooth contours would be inter-
rupted by a little mosaic surround of mirror and mahogany.
When these mirrors were carried round a curved corner a
very interesting effect was achieved.

Breaking into this wall there was usually a large
open fireplace, sumounted by a towering and highly elabor-
ate mahogany overmantel rising to the ceiling and enthron-
ing the inevitable clock, which might, perhaps, be set in
mahogany intricacies or clutched by a bevy of whirling metal
maidens.

Equally elaborate and dramatic, the bar-counter opposite
would curve out into the room carrying its secluding array of
little screens, mahogany supports, and top shelf garnished
with polished brass, bearing its load of glasses, ferns and
flowerpots. Beyond there would probably be a glimpse of the
length of the bar, a glimpse into space, flanked by the mag-
nificent bar fitment.

Shutting off the view from the private bar adjoining
was a partition, panelled in mahogany to a height of four
or five feet and, above, a mahogany framework surrounding
panels of embossed and brilliant-cut glass, sometimes
rectangular, sometimes curved shapes, and freguently to be
seen in panels that resembled the plan view of a Victorian
pub with its partitions radiating from it.

Beneath the wall mirrors and partition glass there
were built-in seats well padded in horsehair, upholstered
in black leather and dimpled all over with those retaining
buttons reminiscent of ancient first-class railway compart-
ments. Groups of similarly upholstered, upright mahogany
hairs clustered round heavy cast-iron circular tables with
little brass rails encircling their polished mahogany or
marble tops. They were heavy, solid tables, with bulging
legs bearing all manner of effigies on their curving knees.
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Dotted about, oblivious of the lay-out of the 'room',
sheathed in Lincrusta and crowned with corinthian capitals,
cast-iron supports supplied a practical note to the profusion
and served as useful props for the perpendicular drinker.

The plan of the saloon bar was not always regular, for
the snug and the alcove were much appreciated by the regular
groups who preferred to sit and keep themselves to themselves.
These broken lines multiplied still further the broken pattern
of the decoration and added to the cosiness of the atmosphere.

The Public Bar. 1In the Victorian pub, the public bar,
from the decorative point of view, comes rather a poor last
to all the other bars., The customer paid less, had no de-
sire to be screened from anyone, and did not mind anyone
knowing it. He could come in his working clothes and jostle
his fellows without causing offence or undue notice, which
meant far more in the nineteenth century than it does today.
Towns were not the clean places that they are now, and the
labourer did all the heavy and dirty jobs in his everyday
clothes, unprotected by overalls and special clothing or
by hygenic packaging.

For these reasons alone it would have been unpractical
to furnish the public bar with padded seats and the other
refinements of the saloon bar. Mirrors were hardly approp-
riate, for not only did they run considerable danger on the
rowdy nights, but a man prefers to look at himself when he
is dressed for the shock. Lastly, of course, the publican
spent as little as he could on this section, because he
knew that if the liquor was all right and he and his staff
played their part, he would get his customers just the
 same.' (1)

This was the pattern and style until the end of the
nineteenth century and often well into the twentieth
century. What is worthy of looking into further is whether
or not the style of inns and pubs in Australia, and in part-
icular, in the Hawkesbury area, followed the English pattern,
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after starting with the same origins, or whether the social
climate in Australia affected the situation sufficiently
for different styles to emerge. Following Federation,
social pressures were certainly different to those in
England, resulting in obviously different styles, as is
immediately apparent today. Styles in the nineteenth
century are not so immediately apparent.
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3 The Australian Scene

Until the time of Governor Macquarie, controls on public
houses and inns were variable and ineffectual, resulting in a
rash of lowly grog shops in the new colony. Controls were
sometimes introduced, but until 1810, they tended to be in-
consistent. In 1798, licences were issued for periods of
12 months, requiring a renewal by the magistrate at the end
of the period. In that year, Governor Hunter brought in a
limit on the number of licences issued:

'As the time of granting new licences ... has been
some time passed ... the magistrates shall proceed as
early as they conveniently can to the renewal of such
licences that none may believe that such licences are un-
necessary; but as it has been found that the number granted
was by far too many, and nearly became a public nuisance,
his Excellency recommends that they allow only the follow-
ing numbers ... Sydney, eight; Parramatta, four; Hawkes-
bury, three.' (1)

Many changes took place following Macquarie's appoint-
ment as Governor on 1 January, 1810, On 16 February, 1810,
Macquarie issued an order, providing for a total of six
licences for the Hawkesbury and adjacent district, and one
half-way house between Sydney and the Hawkesbury.

'... the very great and unnecessary number of Licensed
Houses ... in the Town of Sydney and adjacent districts ...
(which) cannot fail of beiﬁg productive of the most mis-
chievous and baneful effects on the Morals and Industry of
the lower part of the community and must lead to Profligacy
of Manners, Dissipation and Idleness.'(2)

Macquarie initiated further changes in January, 1816,
when he caused work regulations to be issued., It directed
that brewers could not retail beer or spirits and that
'people receiving spirit licences must also tape a beer
licence and supply beer when called upon.'(3) This re-
sulted in the disappearance of the alehouse and the private
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inn and the creation of the public house either as a tavern
or a town inn. A man's choice of pub was now determined by
the relative attractiveness from considerations of service,
atmosphere and location.

'The better-class innkeepers, attempting to attract
newly-arrived free settlers and newly-prosperous old
hands, offered service and facilities comparable to those
at 'Home'. Fine food, imported wines and clean, airy
accommodation appeared. But the most significant effect
was the elimination of the inn which offered drink to its
residents only.... Because of the provision whereby all
licensees had to provide beer when called upon, such 'non-
public' town inns could not exist. Every licensed house,
no matter what its social ambitions, had now to provide
for the casual drinker. Those whose ambitions led them
to maintain a reserved area for the socle use of their
guests, designated the parlour of the home as 'private'
and were forced either to add another room or convert an
existing room into a 'public' room. Gradually a distinct-
ion evolved between the service offered in each of the two
rooms. The private parlour for the guests continued to be,
in fact and not merely by tradition, the parlour for the
publican and his family as well as his paying residents.
The furniture, the furnishings, and the finishes of the
room were refined and domestic, suitable for family living
where the decorum and behaviour were those expected in any
home of a similar status. For the privilege of eating from
fine crockery with silver cutlery set on crisp laundered
linen, sitting on upholstered chairs and having his drink
brought to him by his host, the guest paid, but apart from
this he was regarded and treated as an honoured member of
the family.

The public room provided for the casual was a different
proposition. The finishes of the room were spartan and util-
itarian. Uncovered timber floors and timber-panelled dadoes
withstood the drubbing given by careless patrons, and drinks
were served in pewter mugs. The better public rooms were
furnished with wooden chairs and tables. It was virtually
the tavern, taken into, and attached to, the town inn., Its
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entrance was as direct as possible, firstly to attract custom
and secondly to keep the casual and the guest separated as
far as possible. The terms tap-rocm and bar-room or bar were
used loosely and more or less interchangeably until the middle
of the last century. Strictly speaking, the tap-room was the
area containing the barrels from which the drinks were tapped.
In taverns, where the publican was continuously present, both
the barrels and the customers were in the one large room and
for this reason drinking took place in the tap-room. But in
the public section of the inn the licensee frequently had to
leave to serve his guests in the parlour and some security
was necessary. The barrels, which in the earliest taverns
and alehouses had stood on a table at one end of the room,
were screened off with a timber partition for protection
from light-fingered occupants while the publican was absent.
The entrance to the small tap-room thus formed was from the
main part of the building. In such arrangements the tap-
room was a non-public storage area for the barrels, while
the customers drank in the public bar-room. Hence the two
meanings and the confusion associated with tap-rooms. In
the screen-barrier was a small opening with a shelved bottom
large enough to allow the passing of a mug of rum but small
enough to prevent the passage of a human body. Over the
succeeding thirty years the hole was to grow bigger as con-
ditions changed, until it developed into the bar as it is
known today. The solid screen with its small opening was
the precursor of this ubiquitous symbol of the pub.'(4)
Wayside inns were subject to special treatment. 1In
1818 Macquaire exempted them from the reguirement to hold
a liquor licence. Thus, trading hours in the inns were
determined only by the presence of customers and the abil-
ity of the proprietor to keep awake. This resulted in many
inne which were little better than grog shops. In 1827, a
condition was attached to the licence exemption that the
wayside inn provide 'suitable accommodation for travellers
including at least two good sitting rooms'. Many of the
earlier inns which followed the English pattern of using
one room of the host's home as a public drinking room thus
disappeared, unless the host was able to expand his es-
tablishment.
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Wayside inns building design evolved in a consistent
way '... to be as much a sign to the weary traveller as
were the traditional signboards they wore. Only the mater-
ials varied with the location and the period. From the be-
ginning of the wayside inns to their death a hundred years
later, from the old Sydney-Bathurst Road to the Perth-
Albany Road, they were basically the same; single-storeyed
affairs, one room thick with an entrance to every room from
a verandah. At each end of the verandah and in line with
the front of it was a small square room for special guests.
The result was a long low building with a verandah protected
at both ends. One of the central rooms served as a parlour
where guests could relax aching muscles before a blazing log
fire and suffer the exquisite torture of tantalizing smells
of country cooking. In meaner establishments, the parlour
was the kitchen but, in others, it was a separate building
detached from the main house, Whatever the standard of the
place, accommodation was provided for horses and coaches at
the rear. The building contained anything from four to
twelve bedrooms containing comfortable wooden beds with
slatted bases and firm horschair mattresses. The roof was
invariably hipped in one span and covered with whatever
was locally available, thatch, split shingles or, most
often, bark slabs weighted down with cross saplings. The
structure also depended on local materials and the work
that could be encompassed by one or two men - wattle-and-
daub, slab, weatherboard, or, when the area developed,
brick. Neither the form nor the plan of these inns varied
much in the fifty years from 1830 to 1880 that was their
heyday.'(4) :

From 1830, publicans were required to keep whale 0il
lamps burning outside their premises all night and also to
paint their names over the door. The 1830 Act (12 May,
1830) also had significant effects on all pubs because of
its accommodation clause. It insisted that every licensed
public house should provide accommodation of 'at least two
sitting rooms and two sleeping rooms for public accommodat-
ion independent of the apartments occupied by the family of
the publican'. This clause caused taverns to disappear from
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the Australian scene.

The 1833 Act separated the two functions of general re-
tailing and selling liquor for consumption on the premises,
allowing the hotel to sell liquor only. The Act of 1835 pro-
vided that there should be no ingress or egress except to the
street named in the licence and that 'no spirituous liquors
(were) to be sold in that part of a Licensed House called
the "Tap".'

'The restriction was primarily intended to make it
easier to police after-hours drinking by bringing people
into the open bar-room where they could be seen. But the
effect was more far-reaching than that. Henceforth tap-
rooms were for storage only. The solid wall with its
small opening separating the tap-room and bar-room was
modified until it became an open screen with a solid
counter supporting, on a light framework, a series of
shelves above head-height for mugs. The advantages of the
counter bar as distinct from the partition of the tap-room,
particularly in the increased speed of service and ability
to keep a watchful eye over the customers, had been real-
ized as early as 1825, when the bar had made an appearance
in a few of the busier taverns. After 1835 it became
standard. But it was not until the fifties that the term
'tap-room' finally died out and the term 'bar' took its
place.'(4)

On 26 September, 1838, an Act temporarily revived the
tavern. This Act provided for four types of liquor licence:
a publican's general licence, a publican's wine-and-bar
licence (no spirits), a packet licence, allowing the sale
of liquor on ships at sea, and a confectioner's licence,
allowing confectioners to sell ginger beer. Holders of a
publican's wine and beer licence were exempted from the
accommodation clauses governing the general licence. How-
ever the wine and beer licence only lasted until 1849.

By the 1850's the Australian pub had developed into
a set type, with four types of bars being in operation.
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Over the next hundred years, only the public bar retained
its character and style. The saloon bar and private bar
changed in character appreciatively in this time. The
parlour bar gradually lost its privacy and comfortable
seats.

It is thus to be expected that the Australian pub will
have developed in a different fashion to its English counter-
part, after coming from the same rootstock. However it is
of interest to see where similarities do exist, despite the
difference in laws.
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4. Inns in the Hawkesbury Valley

As in Sydney, there was a demand for liquor from the
earliest times of settlement on the Hawkesbury. Many
settlers sold their crops for spirits, to satisfy their
demands. The situation was not helped by the fact that
the economy was organised on a system whereby goods and
services were frequently paid for in rum.

Governor Hunter introduced a licensing system in 1796.
The earliest recorded licences for the Hawkesbury were in
1798, when six were issued. John Stogdell traded under
the sign of the 'Bush' at his hut on the Peninsular.
Thomas Rickerby opened for trade under the sign of the
‘Coach and Horses' on the terrace, where his hut over-
looked the river in line with the continuation of the
present Catherine Street, Windsor. John Harris traded
under the name 'Cross Keys' while Giles Mower traded under
the 'Wheatsheaf', at his hut where the 0ld Hawkesbury Road
reached South Creek. John Morris named his establishment
the 'Highlander' and at Lower Wilberforce Francis Fawkes
operated under the sign of the 'Caledonian'.(l)

Since controls were difficult in outlying areas such
as the Hawkesbury, illicit selling continued. Governor King
reported on his arrival that 'Charles Scoldwell, a convict
is now keeping a most disorderly Hutt on the Green Hills at
Hawkesbury and retailing spirits at a most exorbitant rate

without licence or authority'.(2)

With the coming of Macquarie in 1810 and the return of
the Rum Corps to England, stricter controls were enforced.
In 1809, twenty three licensed premises operated at the
Hawkesbury. Macquarie's orders of 1810 reduced this to
seven. There was an average of four during the later years
of Macquarie's governorship.(3) Succeeding governors liber-
alised the licensing system, such that in 1822 there were
ten licensed houses in the Hawkesbury area, (4), but by
1853 there were thirty five, the peak number.(5) The high-
est number of licences for one year at Richmondwas eight in
1837, and for Windsor seventeen in 1853.
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As an early attempt to reduce the spirit consumption in
the colony, Hunter and successive governors encouraged the
brewing of beer. A large three-storey brewery was built by
Andrew Thompson on the banks of South Creek in 1806. Follow-
ing the death of Thompson in 1810, Henry Kable and Richard
Woodbury continued the operation of the brewery. Following
the 1811 licensing regulations, they were guick to 'acquaint
settlers on the Hawkesbury that they are carrying on brewing
business on same terms as before'.(6) Due to insufficient
demand, Kable ceased brewing in 1813. His son George had a
Brewer's Licence in 1821, followed by Robert Fitz in 1822.
Thomas Cadell succeeded where the Kables failed when he
commenced operation of a successful brewery in the 1830's.
He rented premises from William Cox on Rickerby Creek near
Cornwallis Bridge.(7) It was noted in October, 1844 that
Cadell had a 'very handsome and commodious Brew House and
Stores now nearly completed'.(8) Governor Gipps visited
the brewery in April, 1846 and was surprised to find such
a large establishment outside Sydney.(9) 7Tt was closed
about 1870 due to floods.

With the number of inns which came and went in the area
in the nineteenth century, it is extremely difficult to trace
all of these. It is equally difficult to get dates of operat-
ion. However mention can be made of some.

In February, 1811, licences in the Hawkesbury area were
as follows: (10)

SPIRIT LICENCES
- Mathew Lock - Windsor
- William Hayden - Windsor

- William Barker - Windsor

- Lawrence May - Windsor

= Thomas Gilberthorp - Pitt Town

- Henry Kable - Windsor

- Edward Powell - Half-way House to Parramatta
- Samuel Craft - Windsor

- Edward Robinson = Windsor
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BEER LICENCES
- John Embry - Windsor
- Samuel Haslam - Parramatta Road

In 1821 Windsor had 'The Royal Oak' in Baker Street,
run by William Baker, 'The Plough', whose licensee, Charles
Beasley also built ships at his wharf between Richmond and
windsor, 'The Hope and Anchor', run by George Kable and
often incorrectly referred to as 'The Crown and Anchor',
'The Lord Nelson', run by Jas. Doyle and 'The Green
Dragon', run by Thos. Dargon.(1l1)

Extensive information on inns in Windsor is found in
James Steele's 'Barly Days of Windsor'.(1l2):

'1. Court Street - 'Court House Hotel', built by
John Shearing, opposite the court-house, about the year
1870. Mrs. Shearing died at Stanmore, 17th February, 1893.
Robert Leddra kept the premises about 1877. He died 6th
June, 1882, aged 60 years. This building was afterwards
used as a private school by Mr, J. G. Young, 1888-92.

2. Bridge Street (corner of Court Street, next the
South Creek.) - On this site one of the first hotels was
built, in 1813, by Andrew Johnston, Clerk of Court, called
at first the 'King's Arms', and later 'Macquarie Arms', and
finally the 'Windsor Hotel' (1857). It was here the banquet
was held in 1817 to celebrate the laying of the foundation
stone of St. Matthew's Church. It was occupied by - Ransom
(1815), and William Cross (1837), and sold by his executors
in 1845; and by J. Mawson (1857). The place was swept away
by the 1867 flood, and not a trace of it remains to-day.

3. At one time we believe two public-houses stood on
or near this corner. (See Crosse's executors' sale notice
in S.M. Herald, 15th May, 1845).

4. On the opposite side, now the 'Carrington' (Lord
Carrington was Governor of New South Wales, 1885-90), form-
erly stood the 'Currency Lass', and later the 'Dove Inn'.
It may have alsc been known as the 'Harp of Erin', kept by
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E. McDonald, in 1857. The premises were damaged by flood
waters, and the present building was subsequently erected.
It was greatly improved, and a balcony added in 1880, when
it was re-opened as an hotel, a thousand loads of material
being carted to raise the yard above the flood level in
1892. The site has not been in continuous use as an hotel.
It was used as a school, and also as a residence, for many
years. 2mong the old landlords have been such names as
Thos. Cullan, 1837; John Shearing, 1843; D. Maher; -
Clare; A. Dalton, 1857; McDonald, 1864; Jas. Gosper,
1877-67. After a lapse of twenty years a license was again
obtained by R. Huggins, 1886-1904.

5,6. Thompson Square = Two sites, both stillstanding,
one a balconied house, just below the 'Royal Hotel', and the
other for long, and still occupied by the local doctors, close
to the river. We have not the names by which these were Kknown,
but in the forties the Show meetings were held here in 'Coffey's
Hotel'. This was the 'Daniell O'Connell Inn', licensed by
Edward Coffey from 1842. See Chapter 8. The building next
to it, commonly known as the Doctor's House, was also poss-
ibly an inn, run by James Doyle, who in 1830 was licensed to
sell wine at the house known by the sign of the Lord Nelson
at Windsor Terrace, In 1831 Joseph Delandre is listed as the
Licensee of the Lord Nelson, Thompson Square; by 1835
Delandre had moved to the St. Patick's Inn in George Street.

In 1837 Edward Coffey appears to have taken over as the
licensee. However it is not certain if the present Doctor's
House dates back to this period, and also there is confusion
with the 'Daniell O'Connell Inn'.(13)

Returning to Steele's narrative:

7. At the corner of Freeman's Reach and Wilberforce
Roads, just across the river, stood the old 'Squatters Arms',
kept by one Ryan. The old ruin has only recently been re-
moved, The house originally resembled the old Government
House. It was open from about 1846 to 1867.
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8. Macquarie Street (corner of Bridge Street, south
side) - In a very old plan of Windsor this corner is marked
as 'McQuade's Inn'. We have not been able to find the latest
name of the hotel, but one, Morgan Carroll, was in the business
here in 1843-45. McDonald, Dunstan, Bullock (1857), Donnelly,
and as late as 1870, Maher, were, we believe, on this or some
neighbouring site. In 1857 the building was known as 'The
Sportsman', and at ancother time as 'The Traveller's Rest'.

9. In Macquarie Street (on south side near Baker Street),
stood the 'Jim Crowe'. This was an early house, kept by
Henry Hudson (1837-46), who ran a coach to Sydney in opposit-
ion to that run by Ridge; and afterwards by Jas. Lane and
others, The house, which is still standing, was closed
about 1878 as an hotel.'

Lane married Hudson's widow, running the inn under the
name of the 'Farmers Home' until the 1860's. The building
was demolished in 1964, when the words 'Parramatta and Sydney,
Coach Office' could still be discerned on it.

'10. Next door to the above stood the 'Hole in the wall',
kept, we understand, by J. Rafter (1833-45), and later by
Chafe, Gosper, Egan and Lovell. The hotel was called at
one time, "Help a Lame Dog over the Stile," and also the
"Erin go Bragh." It has now disappeared.' As the 'Lame
Dog' it carried '... an exceedingly well-painted sign of a
dog with foreleg bandaged trying to cross a stile.'(ll)

'll. 1In Macgquarie Street (north side, near the Weselyan
School Hall), an hotel was kept for a short time by R.Dunstan,
but we have neither date or name.

12-13. Macquarie Street (near Suffolk Street) - Two
buildings near here were once used as hotels. We have not
the names, but here the Dorset family were going strong in
the sixties and the early seventies. Thompson and Levy
also kept the place later. One may have been known as the
Oddfellows' in 1857.
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14. Macguarie Street (opposite the Convent gates) -
Here the 'Rising Sun' was found in 1837-52, kept by William
Heath, J. Gough and J. Dorset.

15. George Street - We will take first the south
side, beginning opposite Thompson Square, next Moses's
store. The 'Sir John Young Hotel'. Sir John Young was
Governor of New South Wales, 1861-67, so we presume the
place was licensed about that time. It was kept by G.

Hall (1866-68); Bushell (1868-74); Cain or Kane, and

R. Leddra. The name was changed to 'Hawkesbury River Inn',
then shortened to 'Hawkesbury Hotel'. The balcony was added
in 1893. Later names found over the door were, we think,
Walmsley, Crowley, Horwood. Booth, and the last James
Walsh. It was closed about 1912 by an electorate reduct-
ion vote, and the place was destroyed by fire early in 1913,
and demolished in 1915.

16. Between Baker Street and Fitzgerald Street. These
are the sites of at least six hotels, although we have found
difficulty in exactly locating and describing them, but we
believe the order was first, the 'Butcher's Arms'. This
place was near Baker Street, on the east side, kept in the
seventies by Cavanough. Political meetings in 1843 were
held here.

17. 'Red Lion' stood near Baker Street, on the west
side, about Dyer's shop. It is mentioned in Charles Harpur's
play called "Bushrangers." It was kept by Mary Dargin in
1835-37, and may have been the site of the 'Green Dragon'
in the twenties.

18,19. 'Barley Mow', close to Kable Street, was kept
in 1837 by Robert Smith, known as "the Ginman;" and later
by Jas. Cullen. Another hotel stood close by, perhaps next
to the Congreational Church. It may have been the 'Golden
Nugget', Cricketers' Arms', 1857-60, or 'Barley Corn' at
different times. It was, we understand, kept by the Kable
family at one time, and also by G. Freeman (1857). These
two are difficult to trace. There may have been only one
here.
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20. Between the Bank of New South Wales and the Post
Office stood two hotels side by side. The 'White Hart', kept
by Durham in 1840, then by W. Blanchard and Charles Beasley,
1843-65; also by J. Baker, Byrnes and by Hall, at the earl-
iest period of its history in the thirties'

John Tabbutt the astronomer, remembered the 'White
Hart' as having two anacondas and an ourangoutang, which
dressed in the height of fashion, (11)

'21. 'Plough Inn'. This was even an earlier house than
its neighbour. It was associated with the name of Edward
Robinson in 1835-45. Some of the earliest meetings connect-
ed with the Agricultural Society were held there.

22. 'Bird in the Hand'. =~ This old hotel stood in
Fitzgerald Street, between the Post Office and the Methodist
Parsonage. Here William Bowman's political meetings were held
in 1843. It was kept at different times by Primrose (1837~
45) . Henwright, Gamble, and Burnes. We have not been able
to trace it after the fifties.

23, 'Barraba'. - This hotel stood on the corner
opposite the Post Office, and was built by John Hoskisson,
about 1857. It was kept by C. Blanchard (1857), Reid and
Seymour, and then in 1866-68 by Charles Beasley, who re-
moved here from the 'White Hart', then Hopkins, (1869-73),
and Miss Bushell (1873-74), when it was burnt down in the
big fire (see Chapter I.).

24,25, Lower down George Street, near where the water-
course crosses the street, and now O'Brien's Produce Store,
was an hotel, kept in the forties by C. Eather, and later by
Alfred Dalton, J. Daley, and Hull. There may have been two
sites about here, but they were very old, and their names
are not known.

26. Further along George Street, about opposite to
Catherine Street, where Ward's store now stands, was a
public-house, kept in the forties by P. Burns, or Byrnes,



- 29 -

and by J. Gough, who was at another time in charge of the
Rising Sun. Others who kept the house were: Thomas
Freeman, H. McCourt and Ed. Watt, who also kept the St.
Patrick, in 1857.

27. The last on this side of George Street is at the
corner of Brabyn Street. - The old Benevolent Society's
Home demolished in 1915, It was built in 1835-36, and used
as a home for the old folks up till 1846. Additions were
made to it in 1841; but in those days there was no balcony.
After 1B46 it was used as a private school for a time. It
was licensed as the Railway Hotel' in 1866, then the 'Farmers'
Hotel' in 1878, or earlier, and there were many changes of
landlords, among whom were: Norris, Carroll, Loonan, Hopkins,
Martin, and Ingate. The license was transferred to the
'‘McQuade Park Hotel', whose license had been previocusly
forfeited, in 1894 (see also Chapter XIX.).

28. We now return to George Street, on the north side,
opposite to Thompson Square, where we find the 'Royal Hotel'.
...' A full account of the Royal Hotel (Macgquarie Arms
Hotel) is given in Chapter 5.

'29,. In Baker Street (off George Street), stood the
'Royal Oak', kept away back in the thirties by Wm. Baker.
The 1867 flood waters entered it. The place was afterwards
occupied by Panton and Betts, storekeepers; F. Beddek, and
R. Coley, solicitors. It was demolished some years ago, but
the interesting old foundation may still be seen on the west
side of Baker Street,

30. George Street, corner of Kable Street, where the
Commercial Bank now stands, was the site of Ridge's 'Horse
and Jockey'. The coaches for Sydney used to start from
here, It was also kept by Gaddersly, as early as 1842,
George Seymour and John Booth. As Ridge built the "Fitzroy
Hotel' in the sixties, or earlier, we believe this hotel was
closed at that time.'
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Another source, (7), gives the 'Horse and Jockey' as
operating from 1838 to 1848. 1In the latter year, Richard
Ridge moved to another house in George Street which became
the 'Fitzroy'. The 'Fitzroy' of today was built on the
same site in 1857 but underwent substantial modernisation
in 1955.

'31. 'The Fitzroy' stands nearly opposite the Bank of
New South Wales. It is the oldest continuous license in
Windsor. Amongst the occupants in its earlier days we find
Holmes, 1866-1881; J. Gough, 1882-1894; Wheatley, 1895-6;
Rivett, 1896; Figg, 1897; Smith, 1898-1901; and Eagles,
1902-4. Governor Fitzroy, after whom the place is named,
was in office, 1846-1855. One report says the Parramatta
coaches ran from here in 1847. The meetings in connection
with the building of the School of Arts were held here in
1860.

32. 'The White Swan' stood two doors nearer to Fitz-
gerald Street, in the same building now occupied by Mr. A.
Berckelman. This is an old hotel site. It may have been
the Green Dragon of 1821, kept by T. Dargin. George
Freeman kept the hotel in 1837-45, and John Smith later,
but it does not appear in the fifties.

33. In Fitzgerald Street, at the corner of Union Lane
now Miss Dick's fine property, stood an hotel, kept by
Robert Smith in 1837, and later by G. Freeman. We are not
sure of the name - 'Barley Corn', perhaps, or 'Barley Mow'.

34. On the opposite side of Fitzgerald Street, next
to water tower, is the site of a very old public-house known
by different names. 'Cross Keys', kept by Daniel Dickens,
in the early thirties, whose two daughters were burnt to
death when drawing off rum in the cellar. Tt was known
also as the 'Australian', kept by H. Beasley, the boat
builder, in 1837, and 'Help me Through the World'. The
names Smith, Gilman, and Primrose appear from 1837-1852,
but the reference may be to other sites in Fitzgerald
Street.'
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The sign for the 'Help me Through the World' was a
large globe with the body of a man half way through. (14)

'35, At the corner of Johnston Street is the 'Royal
Exchange', built by George Freeman, probably when he left
the White Swan. We have not the date, perhaps in the six-
ties, or earlier. It was kept by Freeman, Hudson, Windred,
Wood, and Nutter. The license evidently lapsed, or had been
transferred, for we learn that when the Barraba, nearly
opposite, was burned down in 1874, that Miss Bushell trans-
ferred her license to this building, which was kept by her
for over thirtly vears, since when it has frequently changed
hands.

36. The two-storey building, with the old cocachway
under part of the upper storey, and now occupied by R.T.
Clerke, was for long a public-house. It may have been
J. Delander's St. Patrick, in 1837, or E. Watt, 1857. It
is best remembered by old hands as P. Doyle's 'Rose Inn',
1870~77. The name must have been well painted, for it is
still very distinctly visible on the side after the lapse
of thirty years.

37. Another hotel stood further down, before the water-
course is reached; but we have no name to give it, nor are
we sure of its occupants, for it has been mixed up with its
neighbour, the Rose., McCourt, J. Dorset, or T. Freeman may
have been located here, also the name White Horse.

38. Further along George Street, opposite the Salvation
Army Barracks, was an hotel kept by Frank McDonald, 1864-70.
Mrs. McDonald died 14th August, 1874, aged seventy-six. The
house may have been known as the 'Erin-go-bragh' in 1866.
McDonald was a great politician in his time.

39, Next deoor, near the corner of Catherine Street,
was an hotel known as the 'Australian', kept by J. Primrose.
The sign is still legible. Also by J. Fewings as the
Butcher's Arms' and later the Oddfellows' Arms', 1876-78.
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40. At the corner of Church Street and Catherine Street,
on the south side, in the two-storey building still standing.
T. Primrose kept the 'Bell Inn', 1857-1870. It may also have
been known as the Blue Bell at one time. (See Chapter 7)

41. In George Street, opposite the Presbyterian Church,
in a large three-storey building, was the 'Royal Hotel'.
The sign is just barely readable on the high gable, and also
a few letters in front. Sir Henry Parkes was entertained
here on 7th September, 1869, when he laid the foundation
stone of the Public School. It was kept by C. Blanchard,
Mrs. Edward, and Mrs. Hopkins. The latter afterwards moved
to the railway end of the town, while the name Royal Hotel
went to the opposite end.

42. 'Commercial Hotel', known for a time as the
'McQuade Park Hotel', is at the corner of George and Tebbutt
Streets, opposite the Park. 1t was built by Michael McQuade
in the forties. At first it was but one storey, the second
storey being added at a later time. It was kept in 1843 by
T. N. Fisher, then by members of the McQuade family. But
the name best known is that of Harris, who was in charge
for about fifteen years, 1867-188l. 1In the earlier days
of its history more than one of the Governors were enter-
tained here and held receptions. In later years it has seen
many changes; Meads, 1882-86; Wheelright, 1887-89; Buckley,
1890-92; Cross, 1895-99; Cobecroft, 1901-2. Other names:
Burns, Atkinson and Nash have been seen over the door. The
license was cancelled in 1892, and much money was spent in
law appeals to get it back without effect, till an arrange=-
ment was made to transfer the license from the Farmers'
Family Hotel, near the railway.

(From 1874 to 1893 it operated as the 'McQuade Park
Hotel' and then reverted to the original name. It was de-
molished in 1939 and the present 'Tates Hotel' occupies the
site.)

43. 'Railway Hotel',6 corner of Braby Street. The rail-
way was opened to Windsor in 1864, and soon after this hotel,
which is one of the last built in Windsor, was opened. It
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was built by Mrs. Hopkins, who died 26th November, 1882, aged
seventy-two. Other occupants have been Edwards, 1867-74;
Norris, 1879; Gillas, 1882; Solomon, 1886; A. J. Viney,
1892-1901, and Cornwell.

44. Another hotel stood opposite the Park on the Rich-
mond Road, near Cox Street. It was, we believe, built by
James Upton in the forties, and afterwards was kept by Jas.
Cullan, who is said to have kept the 'Sportman's Arms' in
1843, and that may have been the name of this hotel.

45. A Michael 0'Brien is said to have kept an hotel on
the green at the back of Fairfield, near the railway yards,
but of this we have no data.

46. The last site we have to mention is on the Corn-
wallis Road, near the bridge. Here Thomas Norris kept a
public-house in 1845, a brewery being at work close by
about the same time.'

This inn was called the 'Currency Lad', and was a
favourite spot for cockfighting and pugilistic contests.(7)

Other inns in Windsor, not located, were 'William IV',
kept by Thomas Greaves, about 1830-37; 'Rose Inn', kept by
John Tindall, in 1835; 'Prince of Wales', kept by Mrs. Onus,
1857; ‘Holy Go', Charles Bather, somewhere near Catherine
Street; ‘'Settlers Hall' of Richard Lynch; ’'Governors Arms'
of Alfred Smith.

The 'Rose Shamrock and Thistle', on the corner of Bridge
and Macquarie Streets, was conducted by Morgan Carroll. 1In
1846 he appeared in court 'for failure to keep a lamp with
at least two burners lighted over his door on the night of
the 1lst June, between sunset and sunrise thereby forfeiting
the sum of 5 pounds.'(15)

Across the River at Wilberforce, the occasional inn has
stood. The '0Old Retreat Newly Revived' stood directly across
the road from the present Wilberforce Public School. It was
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opened by James Winton in 1837, who was followed by William
Jasper in 1840. When Jasper retired in 1856 it was contin-
ued by his son-in-law George Cobcroft and his descendaqts
until 1901 when the licence lapsed. Halfway between Windsor
and Wilberforce there was a half-way house of call called the
‘George and Dragon', kept by John Cobcroft, which operated
from 1822 to 1846. Closer to Windsor, on the River was the
'Squatters Hotel'. "Oone of the earliest landlords was a

man named Gardiner. After him came Suffolk, who dispensed
refreshments there over 60 years ago. Cunningham succeeded
Suffolk about 1846. During Suffolk's occupancy he made addit-
ions to the Windsor side of the building, which was evidently,
in the first place, a farmhouse. After Cunningham came John
Rodge, followed by James Roots, both of whom hailed from
"down the river." The last occupant was Tom Ryan, whose

name is still inscribed over the doorway as a "retailer of
fermented and spirituous liquors." Tom was a brother of

Mr. Johnny Ryan, who lived for many years opposite the old
hostelry. Ryan conducted it until 1867. The big floods of
1864 and 1867 flooded the building. It has been unoccupied
since 1867 - except as a stable for stock or a camping place
for tramps. Prior to Tom Ryan's reign the old place was a
dwelling, and for a short time was occupied by Mr. John Ryan,
whose brother Tom had been a small squatter on the Lachlan.
Coming to the Hawkesbury he took the place from John Ryan

and re-opened it as an Inn, calling it the "Squatters' Hotel."
Tom Ryan did a good business, especially in the days of the
punt, before Windsor bridge was in existence. It frequently
happened that something went wrong with the punt - a fresh
would cause it to overturn, or it would get stuck in the mud
at low tide, and then team after team would line the two roads
for a considerable distance. ... From information supplied,
we learn that it was a very comfortable old place, containing
6 or 7 rooms, and was clean, well-furnished, and well-conduct-
ed. Visitors from Sydney came and stayed for a time for a
quiet life after the turmoil of the town. In the early days,
too, there was considerable boating traffic on the river, and
small craft were always at the wharf. In the early regatta
days the hotel side of the river was quite gay and lively.'(16)
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Richmond had fewer inns than Windsor. 1In 1837 there
were eight:

- 'General Darling' - Robert Aull licensee,

- 'Union Inn' - Thomas Eather.

- 'Plough'’ - Thomas Mortimer.

- '‘Welcome Inn' - Christopher Moriz.

- 'Packhorse' at the ferry - Thomas Parnell.

- 'George IV' - John Town senior.

- 'Woolpack' - North Richmond - John Town junior.
- 'Black Horse' - Paul Randall.

The 'Woolpack' was built in about 1836. It later became
the 'Travellers Rest'. Town operated the hotel for about 20
years. The 'Riverview' hotel built in 1932 replaced it.

The 'Black Horse Inn' had great significance in the area.
It was built sometime in the periocd 1815-1819 and was first
licensed on 20th February, 1819, to Randall. Randall was
amongst the very first settlers in the area. He died in
1834, after which the business was conducted by his daughter,
who had married a Dr. Seymour. Margaret Seymour appeared on
the license board for many years, until a licensing official
demanded that the licensee be a male. Dr. Seymour's name
then appeared on the board until his death in 1858, at which
time was Seymour's name again appeared on the board. The
Inn was the favourite honeymoon hotel for many Sydney couples.
New arrivals became obvious as they arrived in a closed carr-
iage, with the horses decorated with white ribbons and the
coachman in white gloves and ribboned whip. (17) Samuel
Boughton writes of Mrs. Seymour: ',.. from the good host-
ess down to the meanest official, one would receive every
civility, and Mrs. Seymour was politeness itself, and her
quiet, ladylike dignity commanded respect from all, ...the
whole of her staff, with the exception of old Mason ... were
trained by her from their youth. There was William, her
trusted out-door manager - who held that position from the
date of his arrival in the colony - and his good wife, each
remaining with her until grim death caused a separation and
whom Mrs. Seymour made her heirs. ... four sisters, each
one entering Mrs. Seymour's service at an early age, remained
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there until they were married, the younger succeeding the
elder in each case. ... the time that elapsed between the
elder entering Mrs. Seymour's service and the youngest leav-
ing to be married was nearly 40 years.' Mrs. Seymour died
in 1875, the hotel passing to her adopted child, who married
William Sly, long the outdoor manager, and their son William
in turn succeeded them.

Many of the most respected names in the colony honey-
mooned here:

'Mr. Thomas Jones, son of Hon. Richard Jones, M.L.C.,
Woolloomooloo and Frances, daughter of Mr. Joseph Moore;
Alexander Campbell and bride; George Hart, Speaker of the
Provincial Council, New Zealand and Julia Kerrison James,
daughter of Bishop Broughton's secretary; and another sister,
Fanny Ada Mary, who married Henry Edward Chauvel; Sophia
Towns and George Osborne, of Michelago; Frederick Milford
M.D., son of Judge Milford, and Adelaide, eldest daughter
to Bobby Fitzgerald of Springfield, Darlinghurst, and Windsor;
Captain Mann and Miss Hely; Alexander Macarthur and Miss
Boyce; Captain Addison and Miss Wentworth (daughter to
D'Arcy Wentworth); Frederick, son of Mathias, Governor
of Holstein, Greenland ... are only a few of several hun-
dred.' (18)

At its heyday, the Inn was covered in roses and was
sheltered from the public gaze by lilac bushes and white
cedar trees. The 'Black Horse' also figured as the finish-
ing post for horse races down the main streets and some race-
horses were stabled there, while being trajined.

The drink servery at the Inn was in line with its date
of construction.

'There was no counter with carved brackets and marble
top, and no glass cases with artistically labelled bottles
exposed to view. When you required refreshment it was, for
many years, handed to you through the little parlour door,
and later on through a small hole cut in the wall.'(17)
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Numerous other inns opened and closed at Richmond over
the years. The 'Lion and Unicorn', kept at one time by
Thomas Silks, later became the 'Horse and Jockey', follow-
ing renovations by J. Bates in about 1864.(17)

The 'Royal Hotel' on the corner of Windsor and East
Market Streets has held a licence continuously since it
was opened by W. Reid in 1865. It continued much the same
in appearance, with its high colonnade supporting the balcony
along the front, until 1957, when, with extensive additions
and alterations, it lost much of its character. (See photo-
graphs)

The 'Union Inn' was run by Thomas Eather and had a
reputation as an inn patronised by the most respected in-
habitants of the district. The 'Queens Arms' was operated
as a hotel by Thomas Onus.

McGrath's Hill has had two inns, the 'Royal Oak' and
the 'Killarney' from 1853 until the 'Killarney' closed in
1911. At Clarendon, Higgerson's 'Bird in Hand' was TChester',
which finally closed in 1911.

At Pitt Town, Thomas Gilberthorpe was the first licensee,
in 1811, working also as a wheatgrower. During most of the
nineteenth century, Pitt Town had two main hotels. 1In 1819
George Hall gave a house as a dowry to his daughter, May,
who married William Johnston. It was licensed to Abraham
Johnston in 1830 and William Johnston from 1831-42 as the
'"Macquarie Arms'. Thereafter William followed his farming
activities until his death in 1878. It has since remained
a private dwelling, now known as Mulgrave Place.

Daniel Smallwood opened the 'Bird in Hand' at Pitt
Town in 1825, He died in 1839 and his wife Elizabeth con-
tinued the licence until the end of 1842, at which stage
George Buckridge became the licensee, until 1848. 1In the
1850's, Richard Mawson renamed it the 'Maid of Australia',
under which title it operated until 1896, when it closed as
an inn.
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Out on the extremities of the Hawkesbury area was the
location where the old North Road crossed the Hawkesbury
River, at what was to become known as Wiseman's Ferry.
Soloman Wiseman was transported for stealing timber from
the London docks in 1805 (19), arriving in Sydney in August,
1806. In 1813, he was the licensee of an inn in Bligh
Street, Sydney.(20) 1In 1817 Macquarie granted him two
hundred acres of land on what was to become known as Wise-
man's Ferry. In 1819 Wiseman built a substantial two storey
sandstone structure. He obtained a liquor licence for his
home on 17th Februay, 1821 (21), naming it the 'Pocket',
after one of his ships, the 'Hawkesbury Pocket'. The
licence lapsed in 1825, but one was granted on applicat-
ion the next year.(22) The name was then changed to the
'Branch Inn', which operated until 1832. Wiseman died in
1838, However in August, 1836, Michael Darcy obtained a
licence and re-opened the 'Branch Inn'.(23) 1In 1842 his
son Thomas took on the duties of publican.(23) The Darcy
family continued tc operate the inn for many years. It
has intermittently opened and shut its doors, publicans
have changed, and is currently operating under the sign
of 'Wiseman's Inn'.

Further up the Macdonald River was St. Albans, at which
the 'Settlers Arms' was a well known inn. See Chapter 9.

West of Richmond was the area of Kurrajong. At a point
near the six mile post on the road to Kurrajong Heights, the
road was called Rascal Street, and at this point was situated
an inn known as the 'Currency Lass', but usually locally call-
ed the House of Blazes. It was most probably usually un-
licensed, but one reference considers that it was at one
time licensed.(17) The inn sign was a picture of a beaut-
iful girl. It had a bad reputation locally as a rendezvous
of robbers and murderers. It became known as the 'House of
Blazes' after an alleged incident:

'They played cards and gambled, weekdays and Sundays mak-
ing no difference. It was on one particular Sunday they were
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playing cards as usual, when a stranger came and watched
them through the window, passing different remarks about
the game. At last they invited him to try his luck, which
he did, and won all before him. A card happened to drop.
When the man stooped to pick it up, he discovered that his
partner had a cloven foot. At the same time there came a
gust of wind and smell of brimstone, and through the window
he vanished out of sight. They all vowed it was the devil
they had played with, and ever after gave the house a wide
berth, and of a night would go a long way out of their road
to avoid it. So, eventually, it was pulled down'.(17) The
authenticity of this story is of course doubtful.

Near the 'House of Blazes' was another inn originally
called 'Donnybrook', situated on the original crossing of
Wheeney Creek. At the same point also were two flour mills,
originally built by a Bob Singleton. The inn was first open-
ed by Joe D'Landers, and on the sign was the picture of an
Irishman flourishing his shilalah and shamrock. The next
licensee was John Horan, who changed the name to the 'Five
Alls'. It was licensed under this name and licensee in
1842.(23) The sign was of five alls, represented by fig-
ures painted on the sign. 'There was the parson in his
clerical robes, who prayed for all; the lawyer in his
gown and wig, who pleaded for all; the soldier in uniform,
who fought for all; the farmer in top boots and breeches,
who paid for all (this old chap had his hand in his pocket
as if in the act of feeling for the cash in order to do his
part); and the Queen, seated on her throne, who ruled over
all'.(17) The next licensee was Paddy Welsh, and then Tom
Torrant., Its later history is unknown.

Another public house in the area was the 'Travellers
Rest', kept by William Freeman on Comleroy Road.

Upstream of 'Donnybrook' was the 'Gold Finders Home
Inn'. See Chapter 10.
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This covers the history of a large proportion of the
inns which have been established in the Hawkesbury. Photo-
graphs on the following pages show several of them at various
times, illustrating their architectural style at the time.
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WISEMANS INN, WISEMANS FERRY
1913
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BRD IN HAND (LATER MAID OF AUSTRALIA) PITT TOWN
c 1825
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5. The Macquarie Arms Hotel, Windsor

5.1 History
The 'Macquarie Arms' is the most significant hotel build-

ing not only in the Hawkesbury area but also in Australia as
a whole. It is the oldest existing hotel in Australia still
serving its original purpose. It was built by Richard Fitz-
gerald and opened by Governor Macquarie on 26 July, 1815.

Richard Fitzgerald came to Australia as a convict. On
4 January, 1787 while only fourteen years of age, he was
sentenced at Westminster to seven years transportation.(l)
He arrived in Sydney on the 'William and Ann' in August,
1791. He was pardoned in 1792 (2). He seems to have de-
veloped a reputation as an industrious man. John Macarthur
described him 'as honest and useful as any in the colony'.(3)
He became Superintendent of convicts and carried out exten-
sive building and roadworks in the Toongabbie, Windsor and
Emu Plains area, where he also 'raised, cultivated and pre-
pared' tobacco (3). 1In 1804 he was living in Windsor -
Green Hills - and acting as agent for Macarthur and as
Government Storekeeper. (4)

Macquarie visited the Hawkesbury district in January,
1811, to lay cut and name the five Macguarie towns. On 12
January he recorded in his journal:

'I walked over the whole of the present village on the
Greenhills forming the beginning or basis for the town of
Windsor, in which I planned'a square and several new streets;
directing the old ones to be enlarged and improved in various
respects and at (the) same time marking out several new allot-
ments in the town for building new houses according to a pre-
scribed plan not to be deviated from. I gave Mr. Fitzgerald
a large allotment in the square on the express condition of
his building thereon a handsome commodious inn of brick or
stone and to be at least two storeys high ... The square in
the present town I have named Thompson Sgq ...'(5)
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As Fitzgerald was a busy man as Superintendent of
Government Works and also with his private affairs, it wasn't
until 1815 that the inn was finished. He engaged Thomas
Ranson, formerly an innkeeper of England, to keep the inn
for him. (6) The following announcement appeared in the
'Sydney Gazette' on 29 July:

'That spacious and commodious New Inn at Windsor, called
the 'Macguarie Arms', was opened by the Governor on Wednesday
26th inst., when His Excellency entertained at dinner the
magistrate and other principal gentlemen residing at Windsor
and in that neighbourhood. Mr. Ranson, who has taken on him-
self the duties of Innkeeper is, from his experience in the
avocation, thoroughly competent to the undertaking - which
we are convinced will be conducted on a liberal footing.

Its necessity has been long manifest as there was no house
of public reception at Windsor capable of accommodating
large and genteel companies, whereas the Macquarie Arms,
from its extent, plan of building, and adequate number of
apartments, will be doubtless found worthy the most liberal
patronage and support.'

Philip Russell was listed as the licensee in 1817 (7)
and he didn't last long, since Soloman Joseph was in charge
at the time of the Bigge enguiry.(8)

The 'Macquarie Arms' continued as an inn until 27 January,
1835, when it was leased to the Government to serve as Oofficers'
mess for the 50th West Kent Regiment, for which purpose it
served until 1840. On 25 May, 1840, Richard Fitzgerald died,
at the age of 68, in his private home next door to the inn.

His son Robert Fitzgerald, M.L.C., then made the 'Macquarie
Arms' his residence until his death on 9 May, 1865. Between
1865 and 1874 it was leased as a residence.

The cottage adjoining the inn was erected in 1817 from
the discarded material used in the building of the first
church of St. Mathew. In the original period of operaticn
as an inn, this cottage provided additional accommodation
when reguired. (9)
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In 1874, while still owned by the Fitzgerald family, the
inn was leased to George and Jane Bushell, who re-opened it
under the name 'Royal Hotel'. It was run under various lic-
ensees between 1900 and 1913, when the Fitzgerald family sold
it to Thomas Curl, who took on the job of publican. Ownership
was retained by the Curl family until 1961, under various lic-
ensees. In 1956, Jack D'Melio was licensee. In 1958 Joseph
McGrath took on the duties. 1In 1961 it was sold to John Ross,
who renamed it the 'Macquarie Arms', and who was still running
it in 1977.

5.2 The Building

The building has two storeys and an attic floor over
basement cellars. It is built of salmon-coloured sandstock
bricks set in a mud-lime mortar. The stucco rendering was
probably applied in the 1830's, when lime was more readily
available, and rendering was often used to help waterproof
the porous soft bricks. Basement walls are 0.69m thick, ex-
terior walls above ground 0.46m and internal walls 0.33m:
The roof, currently in corrugated iron, was originally shing-
led. The overhang on the roof has walls of about 0.5m. A
single-storey shingled verandah ran around both street fronts
and perhaps the third side as well. The verandah floor is
paved with large square slabs of sandstone, a common pract=
ice with guality buildings of the period.

The joinery
of windows and doors, the interior wall panelling and the
staircases are of cedar brought from near Illawarra on the
Hunter River, fireplace surrounds are marble from Italy,
while the glass for the windows would have come from England.

Elevations 5.1 and 5.2 show the building as it origin-
ally was. It is possible that the verandahs were added in
about 1830, but it is equally probable that they were orig-
inal. The George Street face is symmetric, in best Georgian
fashion - apart from the chimmeys - while the outline of the
Thompson Square face is symmetric, but the window placement
is not. The building style is very reminiscent of other
colonial buildings of the period.
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The main doorways on both faces are identical: round-
headed openings with simple but beautifully-worked radial
barred fanlights, glazed sidelights, and six-panelled doors.
Hardy Wilson captured the style of the Thompson Square en-
trance in his sketch - PhotoSl. The ceilings are ten feet
high on both floors but the original doorways remaining on
the first floor and in the attic are only six feet, which
was the standard height for upper-floor doorways until 1850.
On both floors, the windows, which have light and fine sect-
ioned cedar sashes, used to have louvred shutters externally
while those on the ground floor have splayed jambs with solid
shutters on the internal face, folding intc doored recesses
in the splayed jambs. The cedar stairs, with slim turned
balusters and delicately-wreathed handrails are of excellent
workmanship, as are the mouldings of architraves, skirtings,
doors and jambs.

The cellars have fine brick vautting and stone flagged
floors. Ventilation is provided from barred openings at
ground-level with ledged and braced top-hung internal shutt-
ers which can be held up and open by an ingenious wooden
latch to the underside of a ground-floor rafter. Access is
provided from a circular wooden stair.

The turned wooden Doric verandah-posts possible replaced
square originals in the 1830's. The marble fireplace surrounds
with their carved oak-leaves and acorns above each pilaster and
their cast-iron grates were also added at a later date.

Photo 5.2 shows the bdilding as the 'Royal Hotel', some-
time about the turn of the century. 1Its appearance was con-
siderably altered in about 1935, with brick corner rooms being
added on the upper floor corners facing Thompson Square,
George Street and the south-west. Verandahs were built be-
tween the corner additions on the upper floor. At the same
time some upper floor windows were converted to French doors
for access to these verandahs. Attic windows have been added
to the roof, which were certainly added after Photo 5.2 was
taken.
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Many detail changes have also taken place. 8ide lights
and the fanlight over the main entrance from George Street '
have been painted over. See Photo 5.6. The windows on the
same face - Photo 5.7 - remain unaltered. Two rooms have
been added to the ground floor - one large 'sports room'
added to the west corner of the building and a smaller room
fitted between the columns and the wall at the south corner
of the building, facing George Street. The middle window on
this side of the hotel has been converted to a door for access
to this added room.

The small ground floor room at the northern corner of
the building (now used as the Ladies Toilet) has had its
verandah door blecked off and its north-east facing window
converted into a door. At the southern corner of the ground
floor the small room which is now the Bottle Sales has had
glass double doors built in, facing George Street. On the
south-west side of the ground floor, a l.7m opening was made
in the wall and a metal awning constructed to create a drive-
in bottle shop. Also on the south-west facade, windows have
been added to what was once the corner room (now the Mens
Toilet). The south-west facing windows in the kitchen have
been altered to incorporate more glazing.

Photos 5.3 and 5.4 show the main elevations today. Photo
5.5 shows the rear of the building and the drive-in bottle
shop.

Most of the interior has been maintained in a reascnable
state of preservation, apart from the extensive changes in the
bar and drinking area. The cedar joinery is in good condition,
as is the cedar circular staircase which winds up from the
Thompson Square entrance. The Dining Room is very well pre-
served. The Lounge is in basically sound condition apart
from modern electrical conduit.

A lobby now exists in what used to be the open courtyard,
with the stone floor covered and bathrooms, lounge and extra
bedrooms added over it on the upper floor,
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The George Street stairway has been extended beyond the
upper floor to the attic, which has been made habitable with
the fitting out of several new rooms and windows.

5.3 Form and Function

Plans 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 give details of the layouts of
the cellar, ground floor and first floor. Sections 5.1 and
5.2 give sections through the building.

From the outside, one could at first think that the
building was built as a large colonial home, since its
style is similar to many. However the first thing that
gives a hint to its purpose is the fact that there are two
main doorways, each of the same size and equally important.
There was probably no distinction between which door one
entered by, other than that perhaps the Thompson Square
entrance was more used by travellers stopping for a meal
in the Dining Room, rather than going into the bar area
to drink.

There is nothing particularly different about the cell-
ars. The only changes that have been made have been facil-
ities to store and use beer kegs. It is highly unlikely that
there ever would have been beer brewing equipment on the prem-
ises, since beer was brewed locally.

While the plan does not reflect any similarities with
the basic style of English pub, in it can be seen a local
version of the 'Grander than Home' pub, found in English
country towns, catering for a 'respectable, perhaps genteel,
body of customers'. The usual form of this was to have sep-
arate rooms, rather than separate drinking areas within the
one main room. The building of such a sizeable Dining Room
also fitted into this style. It emphasised the fact that
this was not just a place to drink but had a major function
to fulfil in feeding travellers and giving them overnight
accommodation.

In terms of drinking, originally there would have been
two rooms, labelled Drinking Area and Lounge Room on the plan.
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Room A was probably the original taproom and store. Its pre-
sent function as a cold-room is not disimilar. It is uncert-—
ain what the original arrangement of the bar counter was, and
what part Room B played in the function. The Drinking Area
would definitely have been the Public Bar of the hotel, for
which purpose it currently operates. In the Lounge Room
which approximates to the Private Bar of its predecessors

or the Lounge Bar of today, the comfort of patrons was look-
ed after by the inclusion of a fireplace. Drinks would have
been delivered by hand from the taproom.

The current operation focuses primarily on the Drinking
Area, with a larger opening onto the courtyard which of course
is now a lobby, opening onto the new sports room. The Beer
Garden, situated on the Thompson Square face of the building
functions as a third drinking area. The Bottle Shop in Room
B and Drive~In Bottle Shop section behind it function in a
way which would not have been forseen when the inn was built.

On the first floor the three bedrooms would have provided
sufficient accommodation for a few travellers, but there would
be difficulty in providing for a few coaches. The additions
improve this situation.

In conclusion, the 'Macquarie Arms' is an example of in-
digenous architecture whose origins cannot be definitely link-
ed to its English predecessor, other than in very general
terms. 1In its style, execution and continued function, it
presents a very significant example of an Australian inn and
a building of national importance.
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6. The Roval Oak Inn, Rouse Hill

6.1 History

Records indicate but do not accurately cross-reference
the fact that the 'Royal Oak Inn' was built at Rouse Hill
in 1826, being one of three inns situated on the road be-
tween Parramatta and Windsor.(l) It is thought that it is
convict built, which, considering the year and the standard
of building, is quite possible. O0f the other inns, 'On the
road from Parramatta to Windsor and Richmond, at 18 3/4 miles,
James Pye had an inn ... At 23 miles on the right, just be-
yond Haywood, the residence of Mr. Acres, Hugh Kelly had an
inn called the 'Bird In The Hand'. Here is now the township
of Kellyville. About two miles further on, on the right, was
the 'Swan Inn', kept by John Cross, and considered the half-
way house between Parramatta and Windsor.'(2) The 'Bird In
The Hand' was also referred to simply as 'Kelly's'. The 'Swan
Inn' was later called 'The White Hart', a name which is per-
petuated in a restaurant on the site today.(3)

Originally the 'Royal Oak' stood back several hundred
yards from the original coach trail and the entrance to the
building was through long winding approaches through an or-
chard. It is only in latter years that the building has been
brought by resumption to front the present main road.

The name of the original licensee is thought to be Davies,
although no definite evidence has been found of this. It was
licensed to John Hannabus in 1848.(4) The last and the most
famous licensee was John Seath, who held a licence up to 1910,
when the property was delicensed. Legend has it that Seath
buried a fortune in the ground and that on occasions his
ghost returns to look for its lost treasure. The other re-
puted ghost is a black stallion which is said to have killed
a groom in the yard behind the building. The stallion's
ghost is reputed to appear at the same spot, rearing on his
hind legs in the moonlight.

Seath sold il to a person called Peterson in 1916, who
in turn sold it to a Mr. S. Binns in 1949, who owned it until
1963.(5) Currently it is leased by Mr. Kiaran Warner, who
operates it as a restaurant/wine bar.
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6.2 The Building

The main building is in an excellent state of preservat-
ion, being constructed of squared, polished smooth, stone
blocks. The service wing at the rear is made of sandstock
bricks. The roof, presently tiled, was originally of slate.
The symmetrical Georgian facade has finely turned pairs of
verandah posts and a fine carved valence board. The front ,
french doors are of beautiful cedar workmanship, as are the
internal doors (six panel) architraves, skirtings and fire-
places. Photos 6.1 and 6.2 show the front and front corner
elevations. Photo 6.4 shows the large front door, with its
superb fanlights, above which can still be read the original
lettering of the name. Photo 6.5 shows one pair of french
doors on the front, with very fine glazing bars and a rect-
angular fanlight. The blackwood and Tasmanian jarrah floor-
ing inside the building is of note.

The service wing at the rear of the building comprised
a kitchen, where the present bar is, a coach entrance and a
smoke room and hayloft. The latter two are now replaced in
function by a wine storage and sales bar.

6.3 Form and Function

Plan 6 shows the floor layout. Room A was the original
tap-room. Photo6.6 looks into it from Room B. Rooms B and
C were bar rooms, with direct serving from the tap-room. It
is not known what form the servery doors were. Either a wait-
ress walked out into the bar rooms, or there were 'horse-stall'
type doors on Room A, serving through the top gap. Room B was
the Public Bar, with direct access from the road. Room C would
have been the Private Bar, expected to be frequented by inn
guests and the better-off locals. The cellar is underneath
Rooms A and C. The only obvious access is through a door in
the outside of the north-east wall. It is logical that there
would have originally been a trap-door between the tap-room
and the cellar.

Room G was the Dining Room, served directly from the kit-
chens. (Room H plus perhaps some of I). This left three rooms
for accommodation, each with its own fireplace for comfort on
cold winter nights.
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All of the rooms of the original stone building current-
ly contain tables and chairs for the current restaurant oper-
ation. The former kitchen, Room H, is currently fitted out
as a bar. The present kitchen and toilets are in Room I.

Photo 6.3 illustrates the rear courtyard and service
wing. The cellar entrance can be seen on the right, down
several stairs. Originally in the courtyard was an open
air slab floored 'ballroom', thought to have been added in
the 1880's, and also the stables. These have now disappeared.

This was definitely a wayside inn whose prime operation
was to refresh and accommodate travellers between Parramatta
and Windsor. While the outward forms, with the verandahs,
give it a colonial flavour, it is very much a coach inn de-
signed along the English lines.

Under its current management, with guests inside the
rooms, around the bar or in the courtyard, the country and
western music played there on weekends blends in surprising-
ly well with the style and character of this well preserved
example of a wayside inn.
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7. The Bell Inn, Windsor

7.1 History (1)

The 'Bell Inn' is situated on the corner of Church and
Catherine Streets, Windsor. The land on which it stands was
part of a land grant made to Thomas Rickerby.

Rickerby was convicted at the 0ld Bailey in 1787 of
'stealing 3 trusses of hay valued at 5/-, the property of
Lord Lonsdale'. For five years he had been coachman to his
Lordship and had enjoyed the customary privilege of gather-
ing the loose hay for his own use. Because he exceeded this
privilege he was transported for seven years, coming in the
First Fleet at the age of 37.

Upon completion of his sentence in 1794 Rickerby receiv-
ed his first grant of 30 acres on the west bank at the mouth
of the creek that bears his name.

Catherine Street derives its name from "Catherine Farm"
which was a second grant of 20 acres made in 1798 to Thomas
Rickerby. (This spelling is that used by Rickerby himself;
Rickaby or Riccaby have been used in early musters or deeds
of grant.) He rose somewhat above most of his neighbours
being Chief Constable from 1789 to 1804. 1In 1800 he owned
a horse being the only person other than Andrew Thompson to
have such an animal at the Hawkesbury.

Some parts of Catherine Farm were sold by Thomas Ricker-
by as building allotments, particularly the area on the "south
of the government road" adjoining the present Presbyterian
Church. The road became George Street later at Governor
Macquarie's direction.

Thomas Rickerby had become a successful settler by the
time of his death in 1818 at the age of 67 years.

Samucl Terry and Richard Fitzgerald were the executors
of his will in which he provided for Catherine Smith, his de
facto wife. This he did by the sale of 'Smallwoods Farm'
purchased about 1800. Having no children of his own he left
'Catherine Farm' to his godson Thomas Rixon.
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In 1834 Maria Cope acquired 'Catherine Farm' with which
she consolidated the northern parts of 'Smallwoods' grant
bought in 1833. The Cope subdivision opened up the streets
of New, Catherine, Little Church and The Terrace with numer-
ous adjacent building allotments.

Upon one of these allotments John Primrose built the
'Bell Inn' about the year 1841. This was a fast developing
part of Windsor, and the 'Bell Inn' apparently prospered.

With the death of John Primrose in 1856 the 'Bell Inn'
passed to his son Thomas who occupied it for half a century.
It continued as an inn for some years but the railway was to
divert business to another part of the town and by 1870 it had
faded from the list of licensed houses.

Thomas Primrose continued to take a prominent part in
town affairs. At a public meeting in the Court House in
1858 to form a Municipal Council, Thomas Primrose moved the
vital resolution which was strongly opposed. In the poor
light of the whale oil lamp, eggs were thrown from the back
of the room. No one was hit but the portrait of Macquarie
was. Reports of the time said that 'the meeting broke up
in confusion'.

Thomas Primrose maintained his belief in municipal gov-
ernment. He was elected an alderman on the first Windsor
Municipal Council in 1871 and continued until his death in
1905 at the age of 74 years. During this long period of
thirty years he was Mayor for the years 1879, 1883, 1886 and
1903.

Primrose was also well known in the area as a furniture
maker. At his funeral it was stated that 'there was scarcely
a house in Windsor that did not have at least one item of
furniture made by Thomas Primrose'.

The 'Bell Inn' was then bought by a member of the Gosper
family, a family whose origins went right back to the first
settlers on the Hawkesbury. It remained in the Gosper family
until 1956. After changing hands a couple of times it was
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purchased in 1965 by Alan Coulter, who started on its restor-
ation. It was subsequently purchased by its present owner,
Kay Stubbs, who has completed its restoration.

7.2 The Building

The inn is a two-storey sandstock brick building, typic-
al in style to others of the period. The hipped iron roof is
of interest, with its bell cast eaves overhanging the building
to a degree. The verandah roof is given greater emphasis by
the heavily curved timber valence boards. The picket fence
along the verandah post line of both street faces of the build-
ing gives an extra overall delicacy to the facade. Photos 7.1,
7.2 and 7.3 illustrate the main elevations and verandah de-
tails.

The windows are double hung with twelve panes for those
on the ground floor and originally nine panes for those on
the first floor. Some of these have been replaced with six
pane casement windows. Doors are of six-panelled cedar con=-
struction. The verandah has sandstone paving blocks. Photo
7.4 illustrates the front door, set on the corner of the
building.

The interior, while in good condition, has been altered
to a certain degree. Most of the ceilings have been replaced
and the stairway has also been replaced. Plan 7 illustrates
the room layout. A fireplace was originally situated some-
where in the south-east wall of Room C. Entrances and win-
dows into the current kitchen, Room D, have been changed.

The fireplace in Room E has been changed. Extensions have
been added onto the south-east face of the building. The
doors into Room F from the exterior do not appear to be
original.

7.3 Form and Function

Room A, with its large, squat corner doorway opening
onto the corner of Church and Catherine Streets, would have
been the original public bar-room. The exact position of
the cellar is uncertain, so it is difficult to work out the
original serving arrangement. Room D appears to be the most
likely serving point, with drinks being delivered by hand
from here. Alternatively, it could have been from Rcom C,



INTERIOR — BAR AREA

PHOTO 7.5



- 54 =

with Room D as a kitchen only. Room B, with its separate en-
trance and fireplace, was probably the private bar, for friends
of the publican and 'quality' patrons. Thus we have two bar
rooms, with Room C being a possible third. Above these rooms
are three bedrocms, Rooms H, I and J. It is uncertain whether
these were rooms for guests or for the family of the publican.
Their location suggests they were for guests, since the other
rooms of the building - Rooms E, F, G, K, L - effectively form
a separate apartment. However it is perhaps unlikely that the
publican would give the largest bedrooms in the building to
guests, preferring to give them Rooms K and L, with access
through his private parlour, Room E. Whatever the combinat-
ion, the 'Bell Inn' could certainly provide 'at least two
sitting rooms and two sleeping rooms for public accommodat-
ion independent of the apartments occupied by the family of
the publican', as reguired by the 1830 Act.

Photo 7.5 shows the bar room - Room A - looking from
Room B.

The 'Bell Inn' is rather of the type derived from the
English 'home from home' model, but has some elements of a
more respectable town pub. It is not situated in an area
which would have picked up many passing coaches, and so its
custom would have been local town dwellers and the occasion=
al countryman. If you removed the verandahs and placed this
building on a town street corner in England and gave it a
licence today - together with appropriate interor decoration -
it is easy to imagine it blending into the visual and social

context.
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8. The 'Daniel 0O'Connell Inn', Windsor

8.1 History

The present museum of the Hawkesbury Historical Society,
situated in Thompson Square, Windsor, in a significant town
grouping with the 'Macquarie Arms Hotel' and the 'Doctor's
House', was formerly licensed as the 'Daniel O'Connell Inn'.
The land on which it stands was part of a grant of 30 acres
to William Baker in 1800. This site was then given as a
town allotment to John Howe in 1811, and he lived there for
thirty years.(l)

Howe migrated in 1802 and settled first at Ebenezer. He
became Andrew Thompson's manager in 1809, and was the Chief
Constable at Windsor from 1813 to 1825 as well as the local
auctioneer and appraiser. He was deeply involved in civic
affairs of the district, supervising the building of Howe's
Bridge over South Creek in 1813, and running a punt service
across the Hawkesbury River. He led a party of Windsor men
on two exploring expeditions northwards along the route now
taken by the Putty Road to Patrick's Plains and the site of
Maitland in 1818 and 1820, and was the first man to be given
a permit to graze stock there with the promise of a later
grant.(2) After that, many Windsor settlers took up land
in the Hunter Valley, venturing as far as three hundred
miles to the north-west by 1827. In 1838 John Howe had a
licence to depasture stock as far away as the Liverpool
Plains.

A map of Windsor made in 1841, (3), shows a building on
Howe's allotment in Thompson Square marked as an Inn. Hawkes-
bury Historical Society records show it as being erected about
1842 and licensed in that year as the 'Daniel O'Connell Inn',
with Edward Coffey as publican. There is confusion between
this building and the present Doctor's House. In 'The Aust-
ralian' of July 21, 1837, the following notice appeared:

'Daniel 0'Connell Hotel, Windsor. The Undersigned begs
leave to inform the Gentry and Public generally that he has
opened the above Establishment adjoining the King's Wharf,
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in those spacious premises formerly occupied by the late
James Doyle Esg., which for salubrity of situation cannot be
surpassed, commanding a full view of the Hawkesbury River,
the fertile plains of Wilberforce, and the surrounding count-
ry. The House has been fitted up in the very best style, and
(is) fit for the reception of the most respectable visitors,
who will be treated with the utmost attention. The Cellars
are well stored ... and the Stabling commodiocus, with an
attentive Ostler...'

It is suggested that either the present 'Doctor's
House' or the building on its site before it was the origin-
al 'Daniel O'Connell Inn', and that when the present museum
building was built in about 1842, the licence was transferred
to it.

The inn was one of the most important inns in the Hawk-
esbury in the 1840's. 1In 1843 it was the headquarters of the
Fitzgerald Committee in the first Legislative Council elect-
ions. In 1845 the inaugural meeting of the Hawkesbury Agri-
cultural Association, under the chairmansip of Robert Fitz-
gerald, was held here. Also in that year was a dinner for
the establishment of 'The United Loyal Hawkesbury Lodge'.

In 1846 the establishment was visited by both governors
Gipps and Fitzroy, on separate occasions. In 1846 a public
meeting was held there requesting a railroad to Windsor and
a road from Richmond to Bathurst. The inn was the setting
for the Bachelors' Ball of 1847 where the polka was danced
at Windsor for the first time, and where they danced till
'The dawn of morning through‘the window peeps'. (4)

In 1876 John Howe's son sold the building to George
Davies, Printer, who published 'The Australian', a lively
weekly newspaper. until 1899. The building was bought by
Mr. E. A. Stevens in 1961.

8.2 The Building

The building in its original form, was a typical two-
storey Georgian structure. It originally had a verandah
only on the ground floor, and a shingle roof, as is shown
in an 1879 photograph in Reference (l1). The original ver-
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andah roof sloped up, on approximately the same pitch as the
main roof. The positioning of the windows and door is per-
fectly symmetrical. Two of the first floor windows have been
converted into french windows, for access onto the balcony.
An addition in timber has been added onto the rear of the
building.

Externally, the building is in a good state of repair.
The interior is not quite as good, particularly on the first
floor.

8.3 Form and Function

Plan 8 illustrates the floor plan. The layout resembles
a standard house more than anything else, with the central
corridor with rooms to either side. No-one knows the origin-
al position of the bar or drinking areas, so any conclsuion
on this is conjecture. There is part of a kitchen fireplace
in the rear section of Room A. This section could have been
used as a kitchen or dining room. The main part of Room A
would probably have been the public bar. There is a cellar
underneath Rooms B and D, with its manhole at the rear of
the corridor B. Room D thus forms a convenient tap room,
serving drinks from here by waitresses. It is quite likely
that Room C would have been a Private Bar.

An alternative serving arrangement would be for the
rear section of Room A to be a kitchen servery/bar area,
perhaps with a bar counter along the wall partition. How-
ever this is unlikely since then beer and spirit barrels
would have to be rolled down corridor B and through the
main section of Room A.

Accommodation upstairs would have been suitable for the
needs of the publican and his family and at least a couple
of guests.

In conclusion, the building does not appear to be built
along the lines or form of any English inn and appears not
different to a building built as a house and used as an inn.
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9. 'Settlers Arms', St. Albans

The present day settlement of St. Albans on the Mac-
donald River was started when the main road between Sydney
and Newcastle ran through the Macdonald Valley. In 1841 a
'site was fixed upon for the Township of St. Albans at the
Bullock'Wharf, Macdonald River'.(l) The date of building
of the 'Settlers Arms' is uncertain. A primary reference
to the date has not been found. The consensus view is that
it was built in 1842 and licensed from that date. Treasury
Liquor Science records do not record a 'Settlers Arms' inn
at St. Albans in the 1840's. However there is record of the
'Bullock Wharf Inn' on the Macdonald River, operated by
Richard Palmer. There was a licence issued for this inn at
least between 1839 and 1843, and probably later. It is con-
sidered that this was the original inn of the area, which no
doubt helped the choice of Bullock Wharf as the future site
for St. Albans, and that the present 'Settlers Arms' was
built in 1842, becoming initially the 'Bullock Wharf Inn',
with the licence transferred from the original building,
and at a later date being renamed the 'Settlers Arms'.

The builder and first owner was thought to be John
Sullivan. It was then acquired by a member of the Jurd
family, who continued the inn licence. It continued as an
inn until 1939. The Jurd family held the licence for most
bf this time, the exceptions being for a short period about
1870 - John De Landre was the licensee in 1868-9 (2) - and
for the last five years of its operation. The inn flourish-
ed while the road was the main communication to the north,
but the opening of the Pacific Highway resulted in a down-
turn in trade, finally causing its demise. TFollowing the
Jurd family, the owners have been Bernsdorff, Taylor, Sneesdy,
Stratford and the current owner, Mr. I. Robinson.

9.2 The Building

The inn is two storey stone, with a detached single
storey kitchen at the rear. The facade is not quite symmet-
rical, the main principle of the design seeming to be funct-
ion. It has a jerkin head gabled roof, characteristic of the
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Hawkesbury area. The stone used in the construction is fine-
ly dressed. The interior joinery and doors are first quality

cedar.

The current state of preservation is good, and remains
very original, with little evidence of remodelling, apart
from furniture, shelves and modern conveniences. The pre-
sent liquor sales room and lounge room - Rooms A and E on
Plan 9 - are very much in keeping with the style.

Photo 9.1 is an undated photograph, showing the south-
west elevation. Photos 9.2 and 9.3 show the present south
and south-east elevations.

9.3 Form and Function

The building was made in a strictly functional fashion
for its main purpose. The bar room was Room A, a room well
suited to its use with its large fireplace and direct access
onto the street. It would appear that Room B was the origin-
al tap room. Certainly either Rooms B and C would have been
the tap room. Room B is favoured because of its window de-
sign, complete with ledged shutter. This is similar in size
and style to that in what is considered to be the tap-rcom
of the 'Gold Finders Home' Inn, Kurrajong.

Room E would have been the original parlour of the pub-
lican. It is considered that Room A was the only room used
as a bar.

From Room D, where a door direct into the street, there
is a stairway to the ample accommodation rooms on the first
floor. As an inn, meals would also have to be provided. The
dining room position is uncertain, but with its ready access
to the external kitchen, the publican's parlour, Room E,
probably served a dual purpose as a dining room.

An interesting feature of the first floor of the build-
ing is the doorway to the exterior from Room K. - See also
Photo 9.1 - This enabled the travellers' luggage to be trans-
ferred directly from the top of the coach into the accommodat-
ion area, without the need to manually carry it down off the
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top of the coach and then up (and down) the stairs. The
building as a whole thus appears as a very well thought out,
strictly functional inn.

Its present use is as a liquor store and home, the store
part being in the bar area - Room A - with Room B being a
bottle storage area and Room C a coldroom. Room D provides
office space for the building. The remainder operates as
the home of the licensee.

There is nothing particularly English in the design,
which is purely functional, providing drinking, eating and
sleeping facilities. However it would not be surprising to
see such a building in England, in terms of its layout rather
than architecture. Looking at both, it is a home grown, in-
digenous example of a building built to the needs of the
country. Professor Freeland describes it as '... an almost
perfect and unspoilt example of the good-class, two-storey,
stone inn of the period'.(3)
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10. 'Gold Finders Home' Inn, Kurrajong

10.1 History
The land on which the property is situated is part of
the land grant of 80 acres made to Rowland Edwards in 1819 (1).
Its early history is obscure. No specific reference to it
has been found before 1851. In that year it was reported
that John Lamrock opened an inn on Wheeney Creek called the
"Goldfinders Rest".(2)

'As Bells Line was a short cut to the Turon (gold fields),
and this was the last place of call before proceeding over the
mountain, and the first on returning, many travellers would
lay in a stock of refreshments to assist them on their journ-
ey, or stay and rest on their return. As money was plentiful,
both in that and the following decade, things were often very
lively, not only with returning diggers, but with the local
inhabitants generally.'

Since the route west was successfully navigated by Alex-
ander Bell in 1823, what became known as Bells Line of Road
was used as an alternative route west, being slightly shorter
than the main route blazed by Blaxland, Lawson and Wentworth
in 1813. However it remained basically a bush track. In
1840's, a road trust was formed which gradually effected a
road of a certain standard. However it remained essentially
a foot route, also used in the eastbound direction by drovers
herding their cattle to Sydney.

Of the inn and the cottace on Wheeney Creek, it is con-
sidered that the two storey stone inn was built about 1850/51.
The original part of the cottage was almost definitely built
before this time. The construction is very primitive. The
date 1835 has been suggested locally, but no evidence to sub-
stantiate this has been found to date. It is probable that
this cottage served as an unofficial 'sly-grog' shop prior
to the stone inn receiving its licence.

Local knowledge (3) suggests that John Lamrock was the
first person to settle on this land, which he did at the age
of 18, building the initial cottage. Lamrock watered and
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changed the coach horses. When he married, he added numer-
ous extensions to the cottage as his family grew. It was
also suggested that the stone inn was convict built, with
arrowhead marks on some stone blocks - (these have not been
seen) -.

The precise inn name at the start of its trading period
is uncertain. One reference (2) called it the "Goldfinders
Rest" another record (4) refers to it as the "Goldfinders
Arms", licensed in 1851. The Treasury Liquor Licence re-
cords (5) have a discontinuity between May, 1849 and April,
1853. On the 19th April, 1853, a licence was issued to John
Lamrock for a general publicans licence under the sign of the
"Gold Finders Home". John Lamrock remained the publican un-
til 1868, when his son-in-law, John Bensen, took over. It
remained under the sign of the "Gold Finders Home" until
1870, when the name changed to 'Lamrock's Hotel', for one
year. The licence was not renewed in 1871. John Bensen
was killed in a fall from a horse in 1873 (2).

John Lamrock was definitely known in the area before
1851. The Hawkesbury Benevolent Society records a donation
by him in their Financial Statement of April-June, 1849 (6).
He appears to have been a generous man, reportedly donating
the site for St. Stephens Anglican church and parsonage. He
also took an interest in local affairs, being a member of
the Road Trust for many years. (2) Lamrock remained the own-
er of the property until he died in 1899. Between 1868 and
1899 census details record his occupation as 'farmer'.

In Reference (2), extensive references were made about
the inn:

'Here old friends would meet for the purpose of having a
friendly chat or a social glass, and for the time being would
place themselves under the happy influence of Jupiter. Or
was it Nectar? One thing certain, a beverage could always be
obtained at this hostlery meet for the Gods, and these old
fogies knew it.
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Some would meet to do business, others by appointment to
decide a long standing dispute - not by arbitration, but by a
more speedy and less expensive proceeding, the costs amounting
only to a little exertion or a few bruises...

On one of these occasions an old gent who, in his young
days, had figured in the prize ring with more or less success,
and still had the conceit in him to think he was an expert in
the noble art as in days of yore, was offering a sum of 2
pounds to any person in the crowed there assembled who would
place himself before him for two rounds only. The money was
held aloft for inspection for some considerable time without
any apparent response, when a certain well-known Jehu drove
up, with his coach and four, whom we will call Ned (not the
coach, but the Jehu). Now, Ned was a remarkably quiet, un-
assuming fellow, never known to be a partis(an) in any brawl.
When he came on the scene and saw the commotion, he naturally
enquired the cause, and being informed, sat and meditated
thus: "2 pourds for two rounds; that is more than I can
earn in a week on the coach, and he cannot kill me I'll take

him on!"
Preliminaries being arranged, the contest commenced.

Round No. 1 - No advantage on either side. The old pug
exhibited his science, Ned his bull-dog pluck.

Round No. 2 - Slightly in Ned's favour.

The old veteran, warming up to the occasion, wished to
continue the encounter. But Ned says, "No; pay up, and you
can have two more at the same price."

Agreed, and the contest proceeded. Suffice it to say,
that at the end of the fourth round, Ned had a considerable
lead, and the old man had had sufficient for his money. Ned
was 4 pounds the richer man, less drinks all round, which made
a hole in one of the notes. But all the same Ned was heard to
remark, "that he would take on a similar contract every day in
the week."
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This was also the rendezvous for others of a more peace-
ful nature than those which I have been describing.

The old Kurrajong racecourse was near by. The same
course where old Veno, the erstwhine champion of Australia,
won his first race,

I have spent many pleasant days since then in the neigh-
bourhood of this old hostelry, and met many pleasant people
there. One very interesting old gentleman - Mr. W.P, Wil-
shire - I often met in the '60's. He was of a very old and
respected family in the State, and who was descended on his
mother's side from an old lady whom I mentioned some time
ago as having arrived here in 1800. He was possessed of
superior talent, being a no mean artist, and a frequent con-
tributor to the Sydney press, principally on topics of the
day. One of his subjects was the advocation of a railway to
Kurrajong, which was much to the point, and was always read
with interest. At the time of which I write he was engaged
on the model of a double keeled ship, which I believe has
claimed attention from some of the ship-builders in England.
It was through this model that I first became acgquainted with
him, my knowledge of timber being somewhat useful to him in
selecting and preparing the most suitable kinds.

But there is one amusing incident, in which he was the
principal actor, that I must relate.

He was a great reader, and, being an elderly man, he
loved to get near a fire with his book. It was a cold wet
day. He had been out for a walk, and came in with his book
and umbrella, and took up a position at one corner of the
fireplace in the kitchen.

The cook - not Rolfe Boldrewood's "New Cook," but one
perhaps quite as expert in the art - who has no up to date
range to cook with, but a large open fireplace with a crane
in one corner, on which was hung the fountain and the old
three legged ircn pot, in which was a piece of corned beef
boiling. In the other corner was the camp oven with a peach
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pie cooking or some other dainty dish, and we might add the
spit with its surloin of beef revolving in the centre.

well, that being so, our cook did not wish to tell the
old gentleman he was in the way, but thought he would move
him by a little diplomacy. He accordingly piled the wood
on to the fire in the hope of making the position too hot
for him, and move him in that way. But no, not a move; he
just simply opened his umbrella and used it as a screen be-
tween himself and the fire. So the cock was beaten, and had
to reduce the fire for fear of burning his dinner, and so
the old gentleman read on.'

In 1860 the inn became the Wheeney Creek branch of the
Post Office. 1In 1868 the branch was renamed Kurrajong Post
Office. Tt remained a Post Office until about 1916. During
this period its Post Office custom increased substantially.
In 1862-3 details of the mail delivery service were as
follows (7):

"Mail closes at G.P.O.
Mail arrives at Post Office
Mail leaves for Sydney

Monday, Wednesday, Friday, 4 p.m.
Tuesday, Thursday, Saturday, 1030a.m
Tuesday, Thursday, Saturday, 2 p.m.
Monday, Wednesday, Friday, 8.25a.m."

.-

Mail arrives at Sydney

By 1884-85, there were deliveries on six days of the week
(Sunday excepted). By 1899 it had acquired telegraph facilit-
ies. It ceased business as a Post Office in 1916.

During its time as a Post Office, it also functioned as
a general store. After Bensen's death in 1873, these duties
were taken on by various people, until the death of Lamrock
in 1899, when the property was sold.

On 10th January, 1899, Henry Pitt and Robert Essington
Pitt became the owners of the property. Henry is the great
grandfather of one of the present owners,'Deborah Hallam
(nee Pitt), and so it is of interest to trace the family
history.
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Mary Pitt, widow of Robert Pitt, arrived in the "Canada"
December 14th, 1801, with her son Thomas Matcham Pitt, and
daughters Lucy (m. John Wood), Susannah (m. William Faithfull),
Ester (m. James Wilshire) and Jemima (m. (1) Austin Forrest,
and (2) Robert Jenkins). Mother and son were given adjoining
grants of 100 acres each in 1802 within two miles of the pre-
sent town of Richmond. Mary Pitt was a cousin of George
Matcham, who married Catherine, sister of Lord Nelson. On
the strength of this relationship, land grants were made on
November lst, 1808, to Jemima Pitt (500 acres at Strathfield),
James Wilshire (570 acres at Strathfield) and William Faith-
full (1,000 acres at Burwood) in consequence of ‘a strong re-
commendation from the late illustrious and lamented Admiral
Lord Viscount Nelson to His Excellency Governor King, and of
ne grant having hitherto been made in compliance therewith.
These grants were confirmed by Governor Macquarie January lst,
1810. Mary Pitt died on 7th November, 1815, aged 67.(8)

Further grants were made to two sons of Thomas Matcham
Pitt, George Matcham and Robert Pitt, the former grant be-
coming the property "Bronte" at Agnes Banks and the latter
grant being named "Trafalgar" at Kurrajong, in honour of
Lord Nelson. George Matcham Pitt became well known as the
head of Pitt, Son and Badgery, the stock and station firm.
He had a son also called George Matcham Pitt, who establish-
ed a property on the Hawkesbury River at North Richmond call-
ed "Sunnyside”, in 1860. Henry and Robert Pitt, who bought
'Goldfinders' in 1899, were both descended from Robert Pitt
from "Trafalgar".

Robert continued to live at 'Trafalgar' as a farmer,
while Henry assumed the duties of Post-Master and storekeeper.

'Goldfinders' was mortgaged in 1908 to William Logan, for
the sum of 700 pounds at 6%% interest, to be repaid by 7th May,
1913. The mortgagors defaulted and the property was finally
sold by the mortgagee on 27th January, 1922, to James Pye.(l)
Pye's family had also been in the area a long time, mention
being previously made of a James Pye having an inn on the
Parramatta-Windsor road sometime in the first half of the
19th century.
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Pye sold the property to Lawrence Adolphus on 28th Jan-
uary, 1944. The property took on a new lease of life under
Lawrence and Marjorie Adolphus, becoming used as an artist's
retreat. An apartment was built in the grounds from the
slab wood off the stables and used as a retreat by such
artists as William Dobel and Sidney Nolan, and poets such
as Peter Hopegood and Kenneth McKenzie. Architects such
as Walter Bunning and John Oldham also came. One of the
rooms - Room 'B' on Plan 10.3 - was used as the music room
where pianists such as Nancy Salas regularly entertained,
on three occasions to the accompaniment of Joan Sutherland.

At the same time, the property also served as a hostel
for refugees from the war, the bulk of whom slept in the inn.
Room A in the cottage served as the school room. Amongst the
nationalities who passed through here were Latvians and Germ-
ans, the latter including a community of Knights Templars,
from the Middle East. Devonshire teas were also occasionally
served to travellers.

The property passed to Marjorie Adolphus on 28th June,
1951, as part of the settlement for divorce. William Wells
became the owner on 20th January, 1953. Terry Paul acquired
the property on 25th November, 1958. During his ownership
the grounds were considerably improved and many European
trees were planted. He sold it on 15th February, 1972, to
P.P. McGuinness and three others, who sold it on 3rd December,
1975 to the present owners, Christopher Hallam and Deborah
Hallam (nee Pitt). Deborah's father, Harold Noel Pitt, was
the son of George Allan Pitt, who was the son of the prev-
ious owner, Henry Pitt.

10.2 The Building
(a) Inn
The inn is constructed of two thicknesses of ashlar, giv-
ing a total thickness of 0.46m. The stone is Hawkesbury sand-
stone. The coursesof ashlar are of uniform height 0.30m. The
surface finish on the outside of the north and west elevations
is finely smoothed, with no borders as such around individual
blocks. On the south and east elevations the surface is a
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rougher picked finish. The string course only protrudes on
the north and west elevations. It appears that the building
was generally left unpainted on the outside, with the except-
ion of signs painted on the north and west elevations. The
words 'POST OFFICE' clearly appear over a window on the north
elevation.

The front of the building - north elevation - is asymm-
etric on both floor levels. However a false chimney has been
put onto the east elevation, to match the chimney on the west.
There is no trace of a fireplace on the inside of the east
wall, where the staircase is.

See Elevation 10.1

The floor boards on both floors have been pit sawn, as
have all the other timber beams in the building. The floor
boards on both floors are all similar in dimensions, and are
butt jointed, rather than tongue and grooved.

The interior walls are smooth finished ashlar. There is
no evidence of plaster ever covering them. They are current-
ly painted and from the evidence of the layers of paint, have
been painted for a long time. The fireplace in the west wall
is of very simple form, with no evidence of there being a
mantelpiece or surround. Neither is there evidence of skirt-
ing boards. The ceiling of the ground floor consists of
strips of wood nailed to the cross beams, with narrower strips
covering the joins in the wood. The ceiling of the first floor
consists of overlapping weatherboards nailed to the rafters.

The roof was originally covered in shingles. Some of
these remain, under the corrugated iron which has replaced
them.

Elevations 2 and 3 show the south and east plus west
faces, as originally built.

The inn has not altered significantly since it was built.
At present there is no cellar as such. It appears to have
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been filled in with soil and rubbish at about the turn of the
century. It has been reported that there originally was some
cellar because police returning from the goldfields used to
lock their prisoners up in the cellar and sleep in the bar
themselves.

Partitions were erected on the first floor in the 1880's.
It is considered that the partitions which used to be on the
ground floor were original. Most of these partitions were
removed by William Wells.

When it operated as a store, there was a weatherboard
extension on the western end of the building, linking up
through the two doorways out into this face. There is no
longer any trace of this extension. A skillion type extens-
ion was added to the north side of the building by Pye. The
only trace remaining of this is the joist sockets in the wall.

The verandah on the south face was erected by Pye, who
converted the first floor window into the present doorway.

Photo 10.1 shows the inn in 1956. Photo 10.2 shows the
inn and the creek at ¢l900.

Considerable foundation movement has taken place, re-
sulting in settlement both longitudinally, in which case it
has occurred from both ends towards the centre, and trans-
versely towards the creek. In the latter case, the lintel
course over the first floor windows on the north elevation
has remained, relatively speaking, in its original position
which effectively means that it has been displaced from the
body of stonework making up this wall which has moved in-
wards. This downhill displacement towards the creek is not
even along the length of the building.

Within the north elevation, the string course at first
floor level has dropped and shows signs of cracking over one
of the windows.

In the east elevation there is vertical cracking of in-
dividual stone blocks at the north-east corner, whilst a



PHOTO I10.1




INN & WHEENY CREEK, < 1900

PHOTO 10.2
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number of joints in this wall have opened up as a result of
the downhill movement. In the west elevation there has been
a cracking of the lintel at both door openings with subsid-
ence of the string course over and bellying in the stonework
at first floor level. There are signs of subsidence in the
fireplace built into this elevation. The south elevation
does not exhibit the same signs of subsidence although some
cracks and open joints exist.

Section 10.1 shows a north-south section of the inn.

Photo 10.3 and 10.4 show the north elevation from the
west and east, showing the effect of the foundation move-
ments.

Photo 10.5 illustrates the roof structure. Photo 10.6
shows the interior of the ground floor as it currently is.

Plans 10.1 and 10.2 show the ground and first floor
plans.

Plan 10.3 shows the location and site plans.

(b) Cottage

As was mentioned, the cottage was probably an unlicensed
inn before the main building was built. Thus a full descript-
ion of it is of interest.

Plan 10.4 gives the cottage floor plan.

The original cottage consisted of Rooms A and B, with
the front verandah probably original. Room C was added very
soon after. Its roof structure is identical to that above
Rooms A and B, consisting of round sapling rafters, with some
pit-sawn timbers, covered over with shingles. The roof struct-
ure at first appears continuous over the three rooms, but in
fact there is a discontinuity above the north wall of Room B.
Rooms D, E and F would have next been built, as the owner's
needs expanded. The skillion roofed back section - Rooms G
to I - was the last addition. Considerable interior renovat-
ions were carried out by Adolphus in the 1940's. These are in
sympathy with the style.
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INN : NORTH-WEST ELEVATION

PHOTO 10.3
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INN, GROUND FLOOR INTERIOR

PHOTO 10.6
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The original cottage walls are wood frame, externally
clad in weatherboard, with rubble infil, and canvas or tin
for internal walls. The remainder of the walls have either
weatherboard or corrugated iron on the outside and tin or
plaster board on the inside, with no infil. The roof which
was originally covered in shingles, is now covered in iron,
with some shingles remaining underneath.

Elevations 10.4 - 10.7 show the cottage as it currently
is. Section 10.3 takes an east-west cut through the cottage,
illustrating the way the roof line has changed with the add-

itions.

Photos 10.7 and 10.8 show the south-west and east elevat-
ions of the cottage., It is typical in appearance to many
buildings of its era, and in particular is similar to many of
the first inns which sprang up on the colony's first roads.

Photo 10.9 shows a mural painted on the wall in Room G.
It was painted some time in the 1940's by Adolphus, and ill-
ustrates the inn as he understood it to be. There is ob-
viously a bit of artistic licence in this, but the additions
on the cottage were meant to be the way they are portrayed,
as confirmed in a recent discussion with the wife of Adolphus.
These rear additions, in the form of a wing off the main struct-
ure, housed service rooms for the coaches and travellers, no
doubt including a harness room, pantry and perhaps even a
small forge. The use of the front courtyard as a drinking
area is interesting, foreshadowing the current popularity of
beer gardens by many years.'

Photo 10.10 shows the inside of the front door. The
timber is cedar. The stone rubble construction can be seen
above the door, being stone infill between timber beams.

Photo 10.11 shows the Georgian fireplace in Room C. This
is not original. Originally, the fireplace between Rooms B and
C only opened into Room B. Some time in his ownership, Terry
Paul installed this fireplace, dividing the flue into two sect-
ions, feeding into the same chimney. This fireplace was orig-
inally in the first Windsor Post Office.
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COTTAGE : SOUTH-WEST ELEVATION

PHOTO

10.7



COTTAGE: EAST ELEVATION

PHOTO 10.8
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COTTAGE , FIREPLACE IN ROOM 'C
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Photo 10.12 shows Room A. The fireplace is an interest-
ing example, with a carved stone mantlepiece.

10.3 Form and Function
Accepting the hypothesis that the cottage was the origin-
al inn, its operation as such can be discussed.

It was definitely not built as an inn, but as a private
dwelling. It would have operated in much the same function
as the primitive English style, with guests first gathering
around the kitchen fireplace, and when a separate parlour
was available, using it, and having drinks delivered. As a
two room building, Room A was probably the kitchen/parlour,
with Room B the bedroom. Rooms C, D, E and F were probably
additions to provide more accommodation. The position of
the rear service wing - as shown in the mural - is not known.

Having established a custom, Lamrock built the stone
building as an inn, in a high standard of construction for
such an outlying area. Photo 10.13 shows the licence for
1853-4. The original tap-room was in the centre of the
ground floor, the only window being barred, and equipped
with a solid shutter. The exact form of serving arrange-
ment is not known, but was possibly through a hole in the
wall. The original point of access into the cellar is also
not known, but would logically have been from the tap-room.
Since some sections of the floor are non original, evidence
cannot be found of the original trapdoor.

The western end of the room would have been the drinking
area, with its fireplace for comfort and direct access to the
outside. It is possible that the eastern end of the room
formed a second drinking area, with drinks being served di-
rect from the tap-room.

Sufficient accommodation would have been provided by the
rooms on the first floor. However a former owner, Terry Paul,
considers that originally there were no partitions upstairs,
and that bunks were installed around the walls, where the men
slept, while ladies slept in the cottage. This is possible



COTTAGE: ROOM ‘A’

PHOTO 10.12
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but unlikely, since if someone was going to the expense of
building a two storey ashlar structure with well smoothed
walls, then they would probably not skimp on any aspect of
construction. However another possibility is that after

the main structure was finished, news of the gold discovery
at Ophir came, so most of the workmen downed tools and went
to the goldfields, leaving the new inn unfinished internally.

As previously mentioned, use was perhaps made of the
front courtyard for drinking. The mural also shows a man
walking from the rear of the establishment to the courtyard,
with a mug in his hand. Perhaps there could have been a
brewing room in one of the outbuildings, from which supplies
were brought. However this is probably a bit of artistic
licence, since the tap-room in the inn would have been a
lot closer. More likely, the wheole idyllic setting of the
courtyard figures was composed in the mind of the artist.

The 'Gold Finders Home Inn' is thus very similar to
the 'Settlers Arms', since it was probably purpose built,
not to a fashion or to English tradition but to carry out
a function. The original supposed operation of the cottage
as an inn could be said to be similar to the traditional
style, but what would have been an alternative arrangement?
The two buildings remain a picturesque link with the past
and an intersting home of the present.
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11. Conclusion

It can be concluded that the Bnglish tradition of inn
and pub design did not have a significant effect on the de-
sign of the inns built in the first half of the 19th century
in the Hawkesbury area. It is not so much that traditions
and styles were lost but that function was the prime import-
ance. The new country was of a harsher climate, with trans-
port more difficult and was less class conscious than the old
country.

In looking at only six of over a hundred inns and pubs
that have been in existence in the Hawkesbury area since
settlement began, one can only draw general conclusions
about design and function. However such a study is still
valuable in its own right in providing a sample of historic-
al and architectural information on this subject.
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